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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
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risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of TWE, and which may cause actual results to differ materially from 
those expressed or implied in such statements. Further information on important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those projected in such statements is included in the Material Business Risks section of the Operating and Financial Review. Readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on forward looking statements.

References to ‘TWE’, ‘Company’, ‘Group’, ‘we’, ‘us’ and ‘our’ are to Treasury Wine Estates Limited and/or, except where the context otherwise 
requires, its subsidiaries. References to ‘F19’ and ‘F20’ are to the periods 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 respectively. 
All currency referred to in the report is in Australian dollars, unless otherwise stated.
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In 2020 many of our communities faced significant 
challenges from drought and bushfire through to the 
health and economic impacts of the COVID-19 global 
pandemic. We maintained our commitment to support 
those most vulnerable in our communities through a 
mix of volunteering, charitable donations and product 
donations. We have also directly supported our team 
with counselling and support services and regular 
engagement programs to strengthen our people’s 
mental health and wellbeing. During this time, we 
also provided our employees with a range of processes, 
tools and activities to keep our people physically and 
mentally safe and healthy during the COVID-19 
global pandemic.

We are proud once again to present the Company’s 
Sustainability Report which will be released  
in September and be made available online at  
www.tweglobal.com/sustainability.

BALANCE SHEET STRENGTH AND DIVIDEND

TWE maintains financial metrics that are consistent 
with an investment grade credit profile.

The Company’s balance sheet continues to be strong, 
efficient and flexible. Lease adjusted net debt/ 
EBITDAS was 2.2x in F20 reflecting maintenance  
of the investment grade credit profile. Total capex 
for the year was $188.8 million of which maintenance 
and replacement spend was $82.6 million, in line with 
our guidance. Growth capex of $106.2 million included 
investment in our luxury winemaking infrastructure, 
vineyard acquisitions and IT investments.

Cash conversion of 94.7% was above the guided 60-70% 
range, Earnings Per Share declined 26% to 43.9 cents 
per share, and Return on Capital Employed decreased 
3.3 percentage points to 10.6% due to lower EBITS. 

For F20, TWE is pleased to declare a final dividend  
of 8 cents per share, fully franked, which brings the 
total dividend for F20 to 28 cents per share.

THANKS AND CONCLUSION 

Looking ahead, we remain optimistic in our ability  
to return to sustainable profit and margin growth over 
the medium to long-term. Supporting this optimism is 
our comprehensive strategic agenda, which is focussed 
on building upon what is already a very strong 
business and positioning it for the next phase of 
TWE’s growth journey and the achievement of our 
ambition to be the world’s most admired premium 
wine company. 

We believe TWE is well positioned to navigate the 
near-term challenges associated with the health and 
economic impacts of the COVID-19 global pandemic. 
The quality, dedication and resilience of our team 
during this time, working alongside our customers 
and suppliers, provides confidence in our ability  
to become an even stronger business.

With that in mind, we would like to thank our team 
for their outstanding efforts during the year, for the 
care they have shown each other and for the way  
in which they have responded in the face of these 
challenges. We are proud to have a diverse, high 
calibre team that is committed to realising the 
potential for our business.

We also want to take this opportunity to acknowledge 
Mike Clarke for the transformative contribution that 
he made to TWE during the past six years. The 
growth and success of our business and significant 
improvement in our operating and financial performance 
over his tenure reflects Mike’s strong and decisive 
leadership, and as a result TWE is a stronger and 
better positioned business today.

In closing, we would like to extend our thanks  
to you, our shareholders, for your ongoing belief  
and investment in, and support of, TWE.

Kind regards,

Paul Rayner		  Tim Ford  
Chairman 		  Chief Executive Officer
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BRAND HIGHLIGHTS

PENFOLDS�

100-point Special Bin  
111A caps off Penfolds’  
175th Anniversary
In 2019, Penfolds celebrated its 175th anniversary 
with a year-long celebration marked by new wine 
releases and special events. The celebrations 
culminated in October when the brand hosted a gala 
event at Magill Estate. More than 100 guests from 
across the globe gathered to commemorate its history, 
people and wines. As part of the celebrations, Penfolds 
also hosted the first global influencer event which 
generated more than 12 million impressions and 
unveiled a new, rare wine representing the pinnacle  
of our winemaking endeavour – Special Bin 111A 
Clare Valley Barossa Valley Shiraz 2016.

Penfolds Celebrate 60 Years of 
Bin 389 with Special Chinese 
New Year Limited Edition
Penfolds released  
a limited edition 
60th Anniversary 
‘Year of the Rat’  
Bin 389 magnum. 
The release was 
supported by a 
global activation. 
This is the first  
time Penfolds 
executed a global 
pull through 
program across 
every region. It  
was supported by 
powerful in-store 
creative featuring 
unique auspicious 
number animations. 

WOLF BLASS�

Wolf Blass Launches  
Makers’ Project
Bringing the craft, education and excitement back  
into the wine category, Wolf Blass launched Makers’ 
Project with six new wines across two tiers. Pink 
Pinot Grigio, Shiraz Grenache, Pinot Noir, Reserve 
Pinot Three, Reserve Shiraz and Reserve Rosé.  
This refreshingly innovative range explores winemaking 
techniques such as free run wine; partial whole berry 
fermentation and early press to deliver its delicious and 
category defining offers. The introduction of Makers’ 
Project was designed to grow the wine category 
penetration through the ‘Discover More and Spend 
More’ category drivers, with a focus on new and younger 
consumers whilst remaining true to the core portfolio.
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TWE�

TWE Brands Ace the 
Australian Open 
TWE returned as the Official Wine Supplier for the 
Australian Open 2020. In 2020, TWE served up a 
stellar selection of wines from across its Australian 
portfolio. As part of the new multi-year deal, a selection 
of wines, including wines in can, were available at the 
event’s restaurants. In addition, a selection of Victorian 
wines were showcased at The Vault tasting room.  
Led by Mornington Peninsula based label, T’Gallant, 
The Vault offered tennis fans a complete cellar-door 
experience with the ability to enjoy fresh, food-friendly 
wines alongside top drops from fellow Victorian 
wineries Seppelt, Coldstream Hills and St Huberts  
The Stag. In addition, Penfolds’ acclaimed Magill 
Estate Restaurant activated at The Glasshouse during 
week two of the Australian Open, with executive chef 
Scott Huggins designing an exclusive menu, paired 
alongside some of the label’s most sought-after wines. 

PEPPERJACK�

Pepperjack Drives Innovation  
for the Category 
With a focus on innovation to meet the dynamic,  
ever-changing needs of consumers, Pepperjack  
expanded beyond Shiraz and Cabernet Sauvignon  
to produce four outstanding wines – Malbec, Grenache, 
Sangiovese and Chardonnay. Pepperjack Malbec is a true 
standout. In a first for Pepperjack, Winemaker, Richard 
Mattner, sourced grapes internationally and travelled  
to Argentina personally to craft the wine, ensuring  
the Pepperjack style and quality was not compromised.  
The brand underwent a packaging refresh with a new look 
and feel that stands out on shelf, maintains its key assets 
and appeals to consumers already familiar with the brand.

SQUEALING PIG�

This Little Pig Launches 
a Rosé Gin
In July 2019 Squealing Pig launched an exciting new 
product, the Squealing Pig Rosé Gin – a refreshing 
Gin crafted with 10 botanicals and a dash of their 
award-winning Squealing Pig Rosé wine. Released  
in response to Australian’s love affair with Rosé and  
a boom in Gin sales, Squealing Pig combined these 
two categories together to debut the first Gin sold  
in Australia containing Rosé wine. With an alluring 
pale salmon colour, Squealing Pig Rosé Gin is dry, 
light and refreshing with subtle juniper, bright  
citrus flavours and balanced spices.  
The addition of the rosé wine gives it  
a delightful hint of lifted strawberry  
on the finish. The innovative new  
release has been another success  
for the brand, which teamed  
up with internationally renowned  
drinks figurehead Jason Crawley  
to bring some creative  
ideas to bars and  
bottle shops for  
the launch. 
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BRAND HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)

BLOSSOM HILL�

Blossom Hill Gin Fizz  
Brings Bright Flavours  
and Innovation 
One of the key growing trends in the UK market  
is consumer demand for products that blur category 
lines. The launch of Blossom Hill Gin Fizz added over 
£2.5m of value to the category in its first nine months 
of sale. The range was so successful that new can 
formats were launched which have seen listings in 
major retailers and initial sales success – just in time 
for the British summer.

WOLF BLASS�

Wolf Blass Partners with  
Taste London & Deliveroo  
to Drive Discovery 
Wolf Blass partnered with the Taste London Festival, 
to drive consumer engagement, through live immersive 
experiences. In November, consumers attending the 
Taste of Winter in Tobacco Dock, London, were led 
though an indoor sensory vineyard experience, tasting 
through the Wolf Blass tiers, to discover the range and 
lead them to their ultimate wine match. Following the 
cancellation of the summer Taste London Festival, 
Wolf Blass adapted to the challenges of COVID-19 
government mandated restrictions by engaging in  
a partnership with Deliveroo, offering free samples  
of Yellow Label 187ml bottles to Londoners who 
ordered takeaways via Deliveroo.

STAGS’ LEAP�

19 CRIMES�

19 Crimes Partners  
with Icon Snoop Dogg
19 Crimes, the first winery that 
used augmented reality to bring 
wine labels to life, continues to 
disrupt the market announcing  
a multi-year partnership with 
entertainment icon, Snoop Dogg. 
The partnership launches  
19 Crimes first California  
wine, appropriately named the 
‘Snoop Cali Red’. The line 
expansion casts a contemporary 
lens on 19 Crimes – a line of wines 
inspired by the convicts turned 
colonists that built Australia. 19 
Crimes was announced as #4 in 
Drinks International’s ‘The World’s 
Most Admired Wine Brands 2020 
and, for the fifth consecutive year, 
19 Crimes was awarded Shanken’s 
Impact Hot Brand. It is currently 
the Number 1 Australian wine 
brand in the US above $8.

Stags’ Leap Winery Celebrates 
125 Years with Innovative 
Tastings Under Shelter in Place 
The 2018 Stags’ Leap Winery vintage, marked 125 
years since the winery’s first harvest. The brand 
hosted journalists at the Winery, offering an immersive 
weekend full of tastings, tours and iconic Napa Valley 
experiences. They also had the opportunity to preview 
the brand’s first ever bottling of Sauvignon Blanc.  
In 2020, as the country upheld shelter in place 
policies, Stags’ Leap Winery opened the doors to  
its virtual tasting room for weekly Instagram and 
Facebook Live tastings that mirrored traditional 
guest experiences, but from the safety of home. The 
virtual activation series garnered press from top-tier 
media outlets such as Veranda, HGTV, Afar, Wine 
Enthusiast, and Yahoo Lifestyle, to name a few.
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BEAULIEU VINEYARD�

Beaulieu Vineyard Celebrates 
80th Anniversary with Bespoke 
Riedel Partnership.
To mark the 80th anniversary of BV’s Georges de 
Latour, a bespoke glass created by the legendary Georg 
Riedel was released. The design features a wide bowl 
and a tapered, narrow rim that allows aromas to focus 
at the top of the glass, while the richness of the wine  
is showcased on the palate. Trevor Durling, Beaulieu 
Vineyards General Manager and Senior Winemaker, 
describes it as a ‘decanter on a stem’. The 2016 vintage, 
released in August 2019, is a blend of 97% Cabernet 
and 3% Petit Verdot, matured for 22 months in French 
Oak and garnering 97 points from respected wine 
publication, Robert Parker’s Wine Advocate.

WOLF BLASS�

Wolf Blass Showcases Asian 
Food and Wine Pairing with 
Michelin Guide Partnership
Eight out of ten Southeast Asians do not believe that 
wine compliments their meals. This insight led to  
a strategic partnership between Wolf Blass and the 
Michelin Guide. The resulting campaign aimed to 
debunk this myth by pairing Wolf Blass with iconic 
local recipes created by Michelin-starred chefs. Media, 
trade partners and consumers were encouraged to 
experiment and ‘Find Your Flavour’, pairing Wolf 
Blass with flavoursome sauces typical of the region’s 
cuisine. The campaign reached more than 20 million 
consumers. Keeping momentum despite COVID-19 
restrictions, diners were converted to a delivery  
service where ‘lockdown’ recipes and take-out tips  
were created to elevate at home dining experiences. 

PENFOLDS�

Penfolds Koonunga Hill 
Encourages Chinese Consumers 
to Share the Extraordinary
To drive greater awareness and purchase intent for 
Penfolds Koonunga Hill with Chinese consumers, 
Penfolds launched a campaign featuring a destination 
travel experience at a scenic resort atop Mogan 
Mountain in Southern China. The campaign saw  
a select group of influencers create digital content 
showcasing themselves enjoying personal time 
relaxing and socializing with friends over glasses  
of red and white wines from the Koonunga Hill range. 
The aspirational and locally relevant social media 
content also supported retail promotions for the 
purchase of six-bottle cases of Koonunga Hill to drink 
and share with friends.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following Operating and Financial Review 
contains details of the significant changes in TWE’s 
state of affairs that occurred during the year ended 
30 June 2020.

TWE’S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

TWE’s business activities in fiscal 2020  
remained unchanged. 

TWE is a vertically integrated wine business focused 
on portfolio premiumisation supported by innovation, 
brand building investment and global sales and 
marketing execution.

TWE’s brand portfolio is represented across the 
Luxury, Masstige and Commercial1 price segments 
and sold in more than 70 countries around the  
world. Furthermore, TWE operates a balanced  
and sustainable sourcing model by diversifying its 
sourcing regions across Australia, the United States, 
New Zealand, Italy, France and other regions. 

TWE employs approximately 3,000 winemakers, 
viticulturists, sales, distribution and support staff 
across the globe.

TWE’S ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE  
AND SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE 
OF AFFAIRS

TWE is focused on four regional segments:

•	Australia and New Zealand (ANZ)

•	Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA)

•	Asia

•	Americas

In fiscal 2020, the Middle East and Africa region was 
transitioned from the Asia segment to the Europe 
segment and the regional financial data was restated 
from 1H20 to reflect this transition.

During the year, Chief Executive Officer Michael 
Clarke announced his retirement and Chief Operating 
Officer Tim Ford was appointed to the Chief 
Executive Officer role (effective 1 July 2020).

TWE also made a series of management changes:

•	Ben Dollard was appointed President Americas, 
based in Oakland (effective 13 January 2020).

•	Kirsten Gray was appointed Chief Corporate 
Services Officer and Company Secretary, based  
in Melbourne (effective 23 March 2020).

•	Stuart Boxer was appointed Chief Strategy and 
Corporate Development Officer, based in Melbourne 
(effective 1 June 2020). 

•	Tom King (previously Managing Director North 
Asia) was appointed Managing Director Asia,  
based in Shanghai (effective 1 July 2020).

•	Kerrin Petty (previously Senior Vice President 
Supply Chain Services Americas) was promoted  
to Director Global Supply Chain, currently based  
in Napa Valley (effective 1 July 2020).

These appointments continue to reflect the flexibility 
and breadth of TWE’s global talent pool at the 
executive leadership level. 

1.	�TWE participates in three price segments; Luxury (A$20+), Masstige (A$10-A$20) and Commercial (A$5-A$10). Segment price points  
are retail shelf price.

Treasury Wine Estates (TWE) is one of the 
world’s largest wine companies, listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). The 
Company is focused on delivering shareholder 
value through the production of wine, and 
marketing and selling quality wine brands  
to consumers around the world.
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During the year TWE undertook a detailed review of 
its portfolio and an assessment of the optimal strategy 
and structure of the business. Key outcomes of this 
review included the intention to consider a separate 
focus for the Penfolds business which may include  
a demerger into a separate listed entity and 
accelerated reduction of the scale of the commercial 
wine business, particularly in the United States.

Evaluation of these initiatives were progressed  
in F20 and remain underway in F21. With respect  
to Penfolds, work completed to date continues to 
validate the expectation that value will be created 
through a separate focus for both Penfolds and 
TWE’s other brands, globally, with TWE to explore 
the future operating model that best supports long-
term growth and value creation. 

Other than the above strategic initiatives and those 
matters referred to in both the ‘TWE Vision and 
Strategy’ section of the Operating and Financial 
Review and the Financial Statements in this Annual 
Report, there have been no other significant changes 
in the state of affairs of the Group during the 
financial year.

TWE’S BUSINESS MODEL

TWE is a vertically integrated wine business with 
three principal activities:

•	Grape growing and sourcing

•	Wine production

•	Wine marketing, sales and distribution.

Grape growing and sourcing 
TWE secures access to grapes and bulk wine from  
a range of sources including Company-owned and 
leased vineyards, grower vineyards and the bulk wine 
market. The Company’s sourcing mix varies by region 
as shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1: TWE’s regional sourcing model
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Proactively taking steps to de-risk TWE’s global 
sourcing model by embedding flexibility and 
diversification across geographic regions, varietals 
and price segments continues to be a driver of the 
Company’s sourcing strategy.

By embedding a diversified sourcing model as well as 
focusing on multi-region and multi-country sourcing, 
TWE is better able to manage vintage variation as 
well as grape and bulk wine pricing through periods 
of grape shortages and surpluses.

This diversification and flexibility also enables  
TWE to react to changes in consumer and  
customer preferences.

TWE owns and leases 9,174 planted hectares of 
vineyards in Australia and New Zealand and is the 
custodian of some of the most sought after viticultural 
assets in renowned winemaking regions, including 
the Barossa Valley and the Coonawarra in Australia, 
and Marlborough in New Zealand.

The Company also owns and/or operates 3,213 
planted hectares in key viticultural regions in 
California, including Napa Valley, Sonoma County, 
Lake County and Central Coast.

TWE continues to optimise its inventory holdings  
to support portfolio premiumisation and at the  
same time pursue initiatives to reduce production 
costs across the luxury, masstige and commercial 
segments, globally. 

Organisational focus on optimising production costs 
across TWE’s global business continues and future 
incremental savings are expected to be delivered  
in the ordinary course of business.

At the same time, TWE continues to focus on securing 
increased access to luxury and masstige fruit across 
all its sourcing regions via vineyard acquisitions, 
vineyard leasing, entering into supply contracts with 
third party growers as well as increasing its sourcing 
of commercial grade wine from the bulk wine market.

Wine Production
TWE owns world-class wine production and 
packaging facilities:

•	In Australia, TWE owns and operates eight 
wineries and two packaging facilities. TWE’s  
wines are primarily produced in South Australia 
and Victoria;

•	In New Zealand, TWE owns one winery located  
in the Marlborough;

•	In the US, TWE has seven wineries and one 
packaging facility located in the North and Central 
Coast regions of California;

•	In Europe, TWE owns one winery in Italy and one 
winery in France.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Marketing, selling and distribution of TWE wine
TWE markets, sells and distributes its branded wine to a range of customers in more than 70 countries  
around the world, tailoring and optimising its route-to-market model by country to capitalise on regional 
insights and opportunities.

TWE generates its revenues and profits from the production, marketing and sale of its portfolios of branded wine.

The Company seeks to embed balance across its regional earnings mix, sourcing models and earnings delivery. 

TWE’s profitability is increasingly being driven by high-growth segments, being luxury and masstige, as well  
as improved profitability across all segments (including the commercial segment). 

Figure 2 shows the net sales revenue (NSR) and earnings before interest, tax, SGARA and material items 
(EBITS) contribution by region in F20.

Figure 2: TWE’s business performance by region in F20
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GLOBAL INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Global wine production and consumption
Global wine production decreased by 11.5% in 2019, driven by bad weather conditions in the main EU producing 
countries of Italy, France and Spain. 

Consumption remained broadly in line with the prior year with increased consumption in the United States,  
the world’s largest consumer, offset by decreases in France and mainland China. 

Figure 3: Global wine production and consumption3
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* Consumption figures include ~330m 9L cases of wine used in the production of fortifieds & industrial applications

2.	Excludes corporate costs of $42.5 million. 
3.	International Organisation of Vine and Wine (OIV).
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

TWE VISION AND STRATEGY

TWE’s strategic vision and strategic imperatives have been refreshed and are set out in Figure 6: 

Figure 6: TWE’s vision and strategy
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STRATEGIC 
IMPERATIVE PROGRESS AGAINST INITIATIVE IN F20

Consumer 
focused 
premium 
brand 
portfolio

In F20, TWE brand portfolio highlights included the following:
•	 Activities continued to support the transformation of Penfolds from fine wine brand to become a true global  

luxury brand.
	– Penfolds 175th anniversary celebrations continued in 1H20, with special events and new wine releases.
	– Release of a limited addition 60th anniversary ‘Year of the Rat’ Bin 389 magnum.

•	 19 Crimes continued to disrupt the market announcing a multi-year partnership with Snoop Dogg and launching 
19 Crimes first ever Californian wine, Snoop Cali Red.

•	 Successful new product launches to meet ever-changing needs of consumers and occasions including Squealing 
Pig Rosé Gin, Blossom Hill Gin Fizz and the expansion of Pepperjack to produce four new outstanding wines.

•	 Stags’ Leap Winery celebrated 125 years with virtual weekly live tastings during shutdown.

Multi  
regional  
and multi-
channel  
sales  
models

In F20, TWE achieved the following:
•	 Expanded portfolio distribution and availability in priority markets in Asia. 
•	 TWE achieved significant value and share growth in e-commerce, particularly in China.
•	 Implementation of new sales operating model and organisation structure in the US.
•	 Strengthened category leadership position in Australia.

World class 
talent

In F20, TWE achieved the following:
	– Driving a diverse, inclusive and collaborative culture through various initiatives, including evolving our 
TWEforSHE program to be a gender equality program; continuing ELT sponsorship for high potential/high 
performing women, and participation of 1200 women in ‘She Leads’ capability sessions delivered globally; and 
achieving our women in senior leadership target of 40% by 2025. 

	– In response to COVID-19, TWE instigated a global survey to canvas employee sentiment and feedback  
on ways we could further respond to and support our teams through the pandemic. We had a participation rate 
of 62% globally and our overall company confidence rating was 87% positive on the actions the company had 
taken to manage our business and teams over this period.

•	 Growing our capability, now and for the future, by building the capability of our people managers through  
the creation and launch of ‘MPAT’ (Managing People @ Treasury) a comprehensive learning platform for all 
people leaders; launching ‘TWEforME’ initiatives focused on supporting employee resilience through targeted 
activities and resources aligned to mental health; physical health; life skills and development.

•	 Continuing to operate an efficient and sustainable structure through implementation of a new operating model  
in ANZ and the Americas aligned to TWE’s premiumisation strategy which included a shift in organisational 
structure and resourcing aimed at driving growth in our luxury and masstige categories, while retaining  
a profitable commercial business. 

Sustainable  
& multi-
regional 
sourcing and 
winemaking 
models

In F20, TWE achieved the following:
•	 A global refresh of our Health and Safety Management Standards and our Destination Zero Harm program  

to include newly established personal commitments to health and safety. 
•	 The establishment of a global critical risk control program which will deliver minimum standard controls  

for the highest risk activities in our business.  
•	 Rapid and thorough response to COVID-19 that kept our people safe and supported, our supply chain operating 

and our customers served in all regions.
•	 Invested in luxury winemaking capacity in Australia and France to support the next phase of the 

premiumisation journey. 
•	 Continued a relentless focus on cost, resetting our efforts on specific and significant strategic opportunities across 

the full value chain globally.
•	 Completed the implementation of a new operating model and organisation structure in the US business aligned 

with the future volume and profitability objectives of the business, including progression towards  
the medium-term 25% EBITS margin target for the Americas region. 

•	 Established a new ‘Future Fit program’ to ensure we remain competitively strong in a changing marketplace, 
encompassing a range of key focus areas. 

•	 Establishment of the COVID-19 plan ahead agenda, focused on managing the business through the current 
environment and identifying opportunities to further strengthen the business into the future.

Deep, 
long-term 
partnerships 
and networks

In F20, TWE achieved the following:
•	 TWE returned as the Official Wine Supplier for the Australian Open 2020, serving up a stellar selection  

of wines from across our Australian portfolio.
•	 TWE and Seppelt once again partnered with the Victoria Racing Club during the Melbourne Cup Carnival  

as part of their longstanding partnership; which includes naming rights of Seppelt Wines Stakes Day. 
•	 TWE and Wolf Blass continued their affiliation with world sport with continued successful sponsorship  

of the Cricket World Cup. 
•	 Stronger direct relationships with US retailers and distribution partners driving increased distribution  

and availability of TWE’s brand portfolio.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

FUTURE PROSPECTS 

TWE remains focused on leveraging its organisational, 
strategic and physical assets across the world to drive 
continued value accretion for its shareholders. Areas  
of current and ongoing business focus that will likely 
impact TWE’s future operational and financial 
prospects include the following:

•	Managing the existing TWE business through  
the COVID-19 impacted trading environment  
and ensuring the successful execution of the US 
business restructure.

•	Ongoing monitoring of developments as they relate 
to pressure on international free trade, in particular 
as a result of geopolitical tensions.

•	Ongoing focus on premiumising TWE’s portfolio, 
supported by TWE’s non-current inventory  
of luxury and masstige wine.

•	Right sizing of TWE’s commercial wine business 
globally, but particularly in the United States. 

•	Exploring the potential to unlock value through a 
separate focus between Penfolds and the remainder 
of the global brand portfolio.

•	Driving distribution and availability of luxury and 
masstige portfolios, focused on Asia, United States 
and ANZ.

•	Investments in French production assets and 
Australian luxury winemaking capacity to support 
the next phase of the premiumisation journey. 

•	Acceleration in DTC and e-commerce channels,  
both TWE’s and retail partners.

•	Ongoing focus on generating new revenue streams 
for TWE’s brand portfolio and selectively pursuing 
potential opportunities for category adjacencies for 
some brands. 

•	Maintaining financial metrics that are consistent 
with an investment grade credit profile. TWE’s 
capital structure and balance sheet provides the 
Company with the flexibility to manage through  
the short to medium term impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic and pursue value accretive opportunities 
for shareholders into the future.

MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS

There are various risks that could have a material impact on the achievement of TWE’s strategies and future 
prospects. Below are those risks that TWE considers of greatest materiality to the business, and existing 
mitigations against these risks. 

Whilst our material risks have not fundamentally changed in FY20, the following risks have elevated in focus:

•	Protectionism and political uncertainty heightened during FY20, elevating the risk of operating  
in a changing geopolitical environment and changing laws and regulations;

•	The unknown length or depth of the COVID-19 health and economic crisis, and the impact on social 
restrictions and the global economy, elevating the risk of changing consumer preferences/market trends; and 

•	The COVID-19 crisis and the impact on workplace restrictions has the potential to disrupt our ability  
to produce and distribute wine globally, elevating the risk of significant business disruption.

RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION

Climate The impacts of climate change may lead to adverse 
effects on business operations and performance.
Restrictions on access to and/or an increase in  
the cost of water and energy, and the inability of 
third-party suppliers to adapt to and mitigate against 
climate change, could impact on TWE’s ability to 
effectively source grapes and wine for production.
In addition, governmental actions to reduce the 
impacts of climate change, for example packaging 
waste and emission reduction targets may also impact 
TWE’s cost base.

•	 Innovation investment, including collaboration with 
research institutes on climate change adaptation and water 
efficiency research, development and extension projects. 

•	 Environment Policy and Standard, monitoring and 
reporting systems. 

•	 Strategic climate change remediation investment plan  
and vineyard capital investment plan.

•	 Innovative agronomic practices including investment in 
innovative technologies that use less water in vineyard, 
winery and packaging, such as drought resistant root 
stocks, and use of technology at key vineyards to monitor 
soil moisture and visualise water stress. 

•	 Sustainable Futures program to drive best practice across 
all regions and gain consistent measurement of, and 
reduction targets for, water and energy.

•	 Global Packaging Guidelines to support our ambitions  
on sustainable packaging and set our expectations  
of our suppliers.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION

Significant 
business 
disruption 
and/or 
catastrophic 
damage or 
loss

TWE’s scope of operations exposes it to a number  
of business disruption risks, such as environmental 
catastrophes, natural and man-made hazards and 
incidents, or politically motivated violence.
Significant business disruption could result in TWE 
sites or employees being harmed or threatened, loss  
of key infrastructure, inability to trade, inventory 
shortages, excess or loss, customer dissatisfaction,  
or financial and reputational loss.

•	 Crisis, business continuity and disaster recovery  
plans, training and resources.

•	 Dedicated health and safety team oversight, audit 
programs and training.

•	 Preventative repair and maintenance program.
•	 Multi-regional sourcing and production capability.
•	 Multi-regional sales diversification.
•	 Comprehensive insurance program.
•	 Global business planning processes.
•	 Financial risk management (refer to Page 101).

Foreign 
exchange 
rate impacts

TWE is exposed to foreign exchange risk from  
a number of sources, namely from the export  
of Australian produced wine to key offshore  
markets in North America and Europe. Foreign 
exchange rate movements impact TWE’s earnings  
on a transactional and translational basis.

•	 Active foreign exchange hedging strategy.
•	 Partial natural hedges (purchases and sales within the 

same currency) where possible.
•	 Matched debt funding of assets by currency, where possible.

Information 
security/
cyber/fraud 
threat

Data/information security is essential to protect 
business critical intellectual property and privacy  
of data. Continuing advances in technology, systems 
and communication channels mean increasing 
amounts of private and confidential data are now 
stored electronically. This, together with increasing 
cyber-crime, heightens the need for robust data 
security measures.

•	 Information Security Policy, supporting framework and 
specialised resources.

•	 Restricted and segregated management of sensitive 
business/supplier/customer data.

•	 Periodic employee training and alerts to ensure secure 
handling of sensitive data.

•	 Crisis, business continuity and disaster recovery plans.
•	 Periodic user access and general system penetration testing.
•	 Defined cyber security strategy and governance.
•	 Program to monitor and detect cyber threats across the 

enterprise network.
•	 Vulnerability management program to identify and 

remediate susceptible high-risk areas within the  
enterprise environment.

Infrastructure 
supporting  
growth

The business relies on IT infrastructure, systems  
and processes to support ongoing business growth. 
Where such infrastructure cannot efficiently support 
the changing needs of the business, there is risk  
of process inefficiency and/or error, which includes 
increased costs and processing times or damage  
to business reputation.

•	 Defined and Executive Leadership Team approved IT 
roadmap and strategy.

•	 A global enterprise resource planning system and 
reporting capability.

•	 IT policies and supporting procedures (security, change 
management, project management, etc.).

•	 Documentation and mapping of key processes and controls 
across the business.

•	 Semi-annual key control self-assessment process.

Changing 
consumer 
preferences/ 
market  
trends

The business’ ability to effectively manage current 
and non-current inventory is intrinsically linked  
to actual and forecast consumer demand – particularly 
given the long product lead-time and agricultural 
nature of the business.
Unanticipated changes in consumer demand or 
preferences can have adverse effects on the business’ 
ability to either capture growth opportunities or 
manage supply.

•	 Dedicated consumer insights and innovation team tracking 
consumer trends and researching new opportunities.

•	 Brand portfolio and product strategy, including portfolio 
rationalisation, prioritisation and targeted investment  
in consumer marketing.

•	 Global business planning processes, including portfolio 
reviews and global volume alignment processes.

•	 Strategic focus on premium (high demand) categories.
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PROFIT REPORT

Financial Performance1 

REPORTED CURRENCY CONSTANT CURRENCY 

$Am (UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED) F20 F19 CHANGE F19 CHANGE

Net sales revenue 2,649.5 2,831.6 (6.4)% 2,920.3 (9.3)%
NSR per case ($) 81.88 79.77 2.6 % 82.27 (0.5)%

Other Revenue 28.7 51.4 (44.2)% 51.8 (44.6)%
Cost of goods sold (1,588.9) (1,642.5) 3.3 % (1,696.4) 6.3 %

Cost of goods sold per case ($) 49.10 46.27 (6.1)% 47.79 (2.7)%
Gross profit 1,089.3 1,240.5 (12.2)% 1,275.7 (14.6)%

Gross profit margin (% of NSR) 41.1% 43.8% (2.7)ppts 43.7% (2.6)ppts
Cost of doing business (555.8) (559.5) 0.7 % (573.7) 3.1%

Cost of doing business margin (% of NSR) 21.0% 19.8% (1.2)ppts 19.6% (1.4)ppts
EBITS (before material items) 533.5 681.0 (21.7)% 702.0 (24.0)%
EBITS margin (%) 20.1% 24.1% (4.0)ppts 24.0% (3.9)ppts
SGARA (41.3) (19.7) (109.6)% (20.2) (104.5)%
EBIT (before material items) 492.2 661.3 (25.6)% 681.8 (27.8)%
Net finance costs (85.9) (85.7) (0.2)% (89.1) 3.6 %
Tax expense (119.3) (167.1) 28.6 % (166.9) 28.5 %
Net profit after tax (before material items) 287.0 408.5 (29.7)% 425.8 (32.6)%
Material items (after tax) (26.2) – – – –
Net profit after tax 260.8 408.5 (36.2)% 425.8 (38.8)%
Reported EPS (A¢) 36.2 56.9 (36.4)% 59.3 (39.0)%
Net profit after tax (before material items  
and SGARA) 315.8 422.8 (25.3)% 440.6 (28.3)%
EPS (before material items and SGARA) (A¢) 43.9 58.9 (25.5)% 61.3 (28.4)%
Average no. of shares (m) 719.9 718.4 – 718.4 –
Dividend (A¢) 28.0 38.0 (26.3)% 38.0 (26.3)%

Business headlines

•	TWE’s diversified global business model, brand 
portfolio and organisational capability supported  
the delivery of profitability and strong cash flow 
performance throughout F20, despite significant 
disruption from the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

•	In Asia, and in particular China, TWE continues  
to see positive signs of both consumption and sales 
depletion recovery. While recent trends are positive, 
TWE remains cautious on the short to medium term 
outlook with gatherings and social occasions, which 
drive consumption of luxury wine, yet to fully 
recover to previous levels.

•	In the Americas, ANZ and EMEA regions, retail 
channels experienced high volume and value growth 
through F20. TWE’s solid performance within retail 
reflects the strength of its collaborative, long-term 
customer partnerships and the power of its compelling 
brand propositions.

•	Outside of retail, key channels including on-premise, 
cellar doors and global travel retail were closed for  
a significant proportion of the second half of F20, 
some of which have been progressively re-opening. 
TWE’s sales through these channels are weighted 
towards higher margin, luxury wine and generally 
have a lower cost of doing business (CODB) than 
retail channels. 

•	TWE has commenced key initiatives to deliver  
a future state premium wine business in the US, 
including implementation of key operating model 
and organisational structure changes in addition  
to the potential divestiture of selected wine brands 
and assets.

•	TWE has also commenced a restructure of its  
global supply chain, which is focused on driving 
optimisation and efficiency to significantly reduce 
future production costs.	

1.	Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases and AASB 112 Income Taxes, as disclosed in note 32 of the Financial Statements.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Financial headlines2,3 

•	Group volume and Net Sales Revenue (NSR) declined 
by 8.8% and 9.3% respectively, reflecting the impact 
of COVID-19 disruptions to key sales channels along 
with challenging conditions in the US wine market 
which persisted into the second half of F20.

•	NSR per case declined 0.5%, driven by ongoing 
challenging conditions in the US driving 
incremental levels of promotions. In other markets, 
NSR per case improved driven by continued portfolio 
premiumisation with the luxury and masstige 
portfolios now contributing 71% of global NSR  
(up from 69% in F19).

•	Cost of Goods Sold (COGS) per case increased  
2.7%, reflecting higher COGS on Australian sourced 
commercial wine and US sourced luxury wine, 
partially offset by lower COGS on Australian 
sourced luxury wine.

•	Cost of Doing Business (CODB) improved 3.1%,  
with proactive cost management of discretionary 
expenditure in the second half of F20, including  
no payment of discretionary incentives in respect  
of F20. 

•	Earnings before Interest, Tax and Self Generating 
and Regenerating Assets (EBITS) of $533.5 million, 
down 21.7% on a reported currency basis and 24.0% 
on a constant currency basis.

•	EBITS margin declined 3.9ppts to 20.1%, with 
higher COGS per case of 2.7% a key driver.

•	Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) and Earnings per 
Share (EPS) (before material items and SGARA) 
declined 28.3% and 28.4% respectively.

•	Strong cash conversion of 94.7%, with lower Q4 
sales and a smaller Australian vintage offset by 
higher levels of inventory for luxury wine; cash 
conversion excluding the net change in non-current 
luxury and masstige inventory was 97.6%. 

•	TWE’s strong, flexible balance sheet and investment 
grade capital structure retained, with net debt/
EBITDAS of 2.2x, up from 1.8x in F19 due to lower 
EBITS and interest cover of 10.1x. Total liquidity 
was approximately $1.4 billion, comprising cash  
on hand of $449.1 million and undrawn committed 
debt facilities of $920.2 million.

Dividend 

•	Final dividend of 8 cents per share, fully franked; 
full year dividend of 28 cents per share delivering  
a pay-out ratio of 64%.4 

Revenue by region5

REPORTED 
CURRENCY

CONSTANT 
CURRENCY

A$m F20 F19 % F19 %

Net Sales Revenue
Americas 1,069.4 1,134.4 (5.7)% 1,209.6 (11.6)%
Asia 617.1 721.4 (14.5)% 723.4 (14.7)%
EMEA 370.6 373.5 (0.8)% 384.9 (3.7)%
ANZ 592.4 602.3 (1.6)% 602.4 (1.7)%
Total sales 
revenue 2,649.5 2,831.6 (6.4)% 2,920.3 (9.3)%
Other 
revenue 28.7 51.4 (44.2)% 51.8 (44.6)%
Total 
Revenue 2,678.2 2,883.0 (7.1)% 2,972.1 (9.9)% 

Revenue

•	NSR decreased 9.3% in F20 impacted by COVID-19 
disruptions in key sales channels for higher margin, 
luxury wine and consumer trading down in some 
markets.

•	Other revenue declined by 44.6%, largely due  
to discontinuation of third-party packaging 
arrangements in Australia. 

Cost of Goods Sold (COGS)

•	COGS per case increased 2.7% due to portfolio 
premiumisation and higher COGS on Australian 
sourced commercial wine and US sourced  
luxury wine, which increased 6.5% and 14.0% 
respectively, offset by lower COGS on Australian 
sourced luxury wine.

•	Included in COGS are $19.8 million of increased 
inventory provisions (F19: $3.2 million), primarily  
in relation to the Americas due to the challenging 
market conditions.

Cost of Doing Business (CODB)

•	CODB improved 3.1% to $555.8 million, driven 
largely by cost reduction initiatives in F20 including 
proactive management of discretionary expenditure, 
particularly the reduction in discretionary  
employee incentives.

•	Included in CODB are $42.4 million of gains on sale 
of assets, $10.0 million charge associated with asset 
write downs, and $10.1 million charge related to 
restructuring activities associated with the Simplify 
for Growth Program. These items primarily relate  
to the Americas.

•	CODB margin increased 1.4ppts due to lower NSR.

2.	Financial information in this report is based on unaudited financial statements. Non-IFRS measures have not been subject to audit  
or review. The non-IFRS measures are used internally by Management to assess the operational performance of the business and make 
decisions on the allocation of resources.

3.	Unless otherwise stated, all percentage or dollar movements from prior periods contained in the Profit report are pre-material items  
on a constant currency basis and are subject to rounding. 

4.	TWE targets a dividend payout ratio of between 55%-70% of Net Profit After Tax (pre-material items and SGARA) over a fiscal year.
5.	Prior year comparatives include the reclassification of $27.5 million F19 NSR for the Middle East & Africa region, from Asia to EMEA.
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Corporate costs

•	Corporate costs reduced by 24.9% to $42.5 million 
due to a reduction in overheads following establishment 
of the Global Business Services platform and the 
reduction in discretionary employee incentives in F20.

•	TWE received $0.5 million in government support 
payments in Asia and the Americas, the majority  
of which has been donated to local causes. TWE has 
not received, nor filed an application for, Job Keeper 
support in Australia.

EBITS by region6 

REPORTED 
CURRENCY

CONSTANT 
CURRENCY

A$m F20 F19 % F19 %

Americas 147.3 233.4 (36.9)% 262.1 (43.8)%
Asia 243.7 283.0 (13.9)% 274.5 (11.2)%
EMEA 51.7 63.3 (18.3)% 68.7 (24.7)%
ANZ 133.3 158.0 (15.6)% 153.3 (13.0)%
Corporate (42.5) (56.7) 25.0% (56.6) 24.9%
TWE 
EBITS 533.5 681.0 (21.7)% 702.0 (24.0)%

EBITS 

•	EBITS of $533.5 million, down 21.7% on a reported 
basis and 24.0% on a constant currency basis, 
principally driven by the second half of F20  
decline of 51.8%.

•	EBITS margin declined 3.9ppts to 20.1%; TWE 
continues to target delivery of the 25% Group 
EBITS margin. 

SGARA 

•	SGARA loss of $41.3 million ($21.1 million higher 
than pcp) driven by losses on the Australian 2020 
vintage and the Californian 2019 vintage, partially 
offset by the unwinding of prior vintage losses.  
The significant reduction in tonnage and yield from 
the Australian 2020 vintage resulted in a SGARA 
loss of $37.2 million. 

Net finance costs

•	Net finance costs were favourable in F20, with  
the benefits of lower interest rates and improved 
financing costs partially offset by increased expense 
on higher average borrowings, including leases.

Tax expense

•	Lower tax expense reflects the decrease in earnings 
in F20.

•	Effective tax rate in F20 of 29.4% is broadly in line 
with the pcp. 

Material items

•	Post-tax material items of $26.2 million reflect costs 
pertaining to the long-term investment in luxury 
winemaking infrastructure in South Australia and 
one-off overhead restructuring costs in the US. 

Net profit after tax (NPAT)

•	NPAT before material items and SGARA  
$315.8 million, down 28.3%, driven by lower EBITS. 

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

•	EPS (before material items and SGARA) decreased 
28.4% to 43.9 cps. Reported basic EPS decreased 
39.0% to 36.2 cps, with the difference due principally 
to material items recognised in relation to the 
long-term investment in luxury winemaking 
infrastructure in South Australia and one-off 
overhead restructuring costs in the US. 

Balance Sheet (condensed)7,8 

A$m F20 F19

Cash & cash equivalents 449.1 401.8
Receivables 554.1 662.0
Current inventories 1,017.4 1,001.7
Non-current inventories 1,059.2 1,045.6
Property, plant & equipment 1,397.4 1,369.9
Right of use lease assets 517.0 535.9
Agricultural assets 34.1 29.4
Intangibles 1,331.6 1,308.9
Tax assets 183.5 187.0
Assets held for sale 74.3 78.3
Other assets 54.2 21.0
Total assets 6,671.9 6,641.5

Payables 682.1 718.6
Interest bearing debt 1,227.0 1,090.0
Lease liabilities 698.6 704.6
Tax liabilities 357.1 430.1
Provisions 59.2 48.0
Other liabilities 24.5 8.7

Total liabilities 3,048.5 3,000.0

Net assets 3,623.4 3,641.5

Balance sheet movements as at 30 June 2020

Net assets decreased $18.1 million to  
$3,623.4 million. Adjusting for movements  
in foreign exchange rate movements, net assets 
decreased by $41.2 million.

6.	Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases and AASB 112 Income Taxes, as disclosed in note 32 of the Financial 
Statements and includes the reclassification of $11.5 million F19 EBITS for the Middle East & Africa region, from Asia to EMEA.

7.	Unless otherwise stated, balance sheet percentage or dollar movements from the previous period are on a reported currency basis. 
8.	Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases and AASB 112 Income taxes, as disclosed in note 32 of the Financial Statements
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Working Capital

Working capital declined $42.2 million to  
$1,948.5 million, reflecting the impact of lower  
sales on receivables, offset by the lower payables 
balance as a result of lower volumes and the higher 
inventory balance which increased by $29.3 million  
to $2,076.6 million.

•	The total inventory position reflects:

	– Higher average vintage costs for the 2020 
Australian and 2019 Californian vintages,  
the latter a result of improved mix.

	– Lower total inventory volume, which declined 9%, 
driven by the 2020 Australian vintage that was 
down approximately 30% versus the prior year – 
partially offset by the carry forward of unsold  
wine previously allocated to the second half of F20.

•	Luxury inventory increased by 8% to $1,305.6 million:

	– Higher average cost per case for the 2020 
Australian and 2019 Californian vintages  
a key driver.

	– The 2020 Australian vintage was a smaller volume 
vintage for TWE with luxury intake down 
approximately 45% and driving a 5% decline  
in total luxury inventory volume.

	– TWE’s flexible luxury wine allocation program  
is a key strength. TWE has put in place actions 
and plans to carry forward unsold wine previously 
allocated to F20 in addition to the reallocation  
of luxury wine that had been previously allocated 
to F21 and beyond into future years.

Property, Plant & Equipment 

Property, Plant & Equipment increased $27.5 million  
to $1,397.4 million reflecting investment in production 
assets in the Bordeaux region of France, investment 
in luxury winemaking infrastructure in South 
Australia, in addition to vineyard investments in 
Australia, offset by depreciation and the disposal  
of surplus supply assets in the US.

Right of use lease assets 

Right of use lease assets decreased by $18.9 million  
to $517.0 million, reflecting depreciation and partially 
offset by the net impact of new leases and increases  
to rent. 

Agricultural assets

Agricultural assets represent the market value of 
unharvested grapes prior to the 2020 US vintage. 

Intangibles

Adjusting for foreign currency movements, intangible 
assets increased by $14.1 million, principally 
reflecting investment in IT systems supporting 
enhancement of planning and e-commerce systems, 
offset by amortisation expense.

Provisions

Provisions increased $11.2 million, driven by one-off 
costs associated with the expansion of luxury 
winemaking infrastructure in South Australia. 

Tax and other assets 

Net tax liabilities declined in F20 due to the lower 
current year tax expense.

Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale relate primarily to surplus supply 
assets in the US.

Net Borrowings9 

Net Borrowings, including lease liabilities per AASB 16, 
increased $54.1 million to $1,434.8 million comprising:

•	Cash which increased $47.3 million to $449.1 million.

•	Interest bearing borrowings which increased  
$137.0 million to $1,227.0 million, principally the 
result of higher bilateral facility drawings in F20.

•	Lease liabilities which decreased $6.0 million  
to $698.6 million.

Balance sheet leverage

Net debt/EBITDAS 2.2x and interest cover 10.1x.

Funding structure 

At 30 June 2020, TWE had committed debt facilities 
totalling approximately $2,111.3 million, comprising:

•	Drawn bank facilities of $609.2 million and  
$581.9 million of US Private Placement notes.

•	Undrawn committed, bilateral debt facilities 
totalling $629.2 million.

•	Undrawn committed, term funding facility  
$291.0 million.

The weighted average term to maturity of committed 
facilities was 3.5 years at 30 June 2020.

9.	Borrowings have been reduced $41.7 million (F19: $12.1 million decrease) to reflect fair value hedges on a portion of US Private 
Placement notes.
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Cash flow – reconciliation of net debt10 

A$m (UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED) F20 F19

EBITDAS 697.9 842.9
Change in working capital (22.2) (167.5)
Other items (15.0) (14.7)
Net operating cash flows before 
financing costs, tax & material items 660.7 660.7
Cash conversion 94.7% 78.4%
Payments for capital expenditure  
and subsidiaries (188.8) (160.7)
Proceeds from sale of assets 100.2 102.5
Cash flows after net capital 
expenditure, before financing costs, 
tax & material items 572.1 602.5
Net interest paid (84.1) (84.8)
Tax paid (168.0) (112.5)
Cash flows before dividends & 
material items 320.0 405.2
Dividends/distributions paid (276.3) (244.7)
Cash flows after dividends before 
material items 43.7 160.5
Material item cash flows (19.8) (1.5)
On-market share purchases (4.9) (16.6)

Total cash flows from activities 
(before debt) 19.0 142.4
Net (repayment)/proceeds from borrowings 28.8 169.1
Total cash flows from activities 47.8 311.5

Opening net debt (1,380.0) (1,336.9)
Total cash flows from activities (above) 19.0 142.4
Net lease liability additions (41.3) (117.8)
Net debt acquired (4.9) –
Debt revaluation and foreign  
exchange movements (27.0) (67.7)

Increase in net debt (54.2) (43.1)

Closing net debt (1,434.2) (1,380.0)

Movement in net debt
Net debt increased $54.2 million to $1,434.2 million. 
Drivers of the movement in net debt included:

EBITDAS

EBITDAS decreased $145.0 million on a reported 
currency basis, driven by earnings decline resulting 
from COVID-19 impacts in key markets and 
challenging conditions in the US wine market.

Movement in working capital11 

Net working capital outflow of $22.2 million is driven  
by a decrease in payables associated with lower 
production volume and the increase in inventory, 
partially offset by lower receivables due to reduced 
sales across all regions. 

Other items

Other items reflects movements in provisions and the 
profit on sale of surplus supply assets in the US. 	

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure (capex) of $188.8 million comprising:

•	Maintenance & Replacement capex of $82.6 million.

•	Growth capex including investment in South 
Australian luxury winemaking infrastructure, 
vineyard acquisitions and IT investments  
of $106.2 million. 

In F21, capex is expected to be up to $200 million, 
including maintenance and replacement expenditure 
and continued business investment to support future 
premiumisation and growth. 

Proceeds from sale of assets

Reflects receipts from the sale of surplus supply 
assets, notably vineyards in the US.

Net interest paid 

Net interest paid is favourable by $0.7 million with 
benefits of lower interest rates, improved financing 
costs and higher investment balances partially offset 
by higher average net borrowings, including leases. 

Dividends paid

Increase in dividends paid reflects payment of the F20 
interim and F19 final dividends, both 20 cents per 
share, representing an increase of 12.9% relative to pcp. 

In F20, TWE paid dividends totalling $276.3 million 
and retained positive cash flow.

Tax paid

Increase in tax paid predominantly reflects higher  
tax payable on the higher earnings in F19. 

On-market share purchases

Reduction in on-market share purchases reflects 
vesting of shares under TWE’s Long Term Incentive 
Plans being delivered in F20 via a combination of new 
shares issued and shares purchased on market.

Net lease liability additions 

Additions of $41.3 million primarily reflects a lease 
extension for the South Australian distribution centre 
and new office leases, offset by lease liability payments. 

Exchange rate impact

Lower period-end exchange rates used to revalue 
foreign currency borrowings and cash as at  
30 June 2020 increased net debt by $27.0 million.

Cash conversion

Cash conversion was 94.7%, with lower Q4 sales and  
a smaller Australian vintage offset by higher levels  
of inventory for luxury wine, cash conversion excluding 
the net change in non-current luxury and masstige 
inventory was 97.6%.

10.	 Unless otherwise stated, cash flow percentage or dollar movements from the previous period are on a reported currency basis. 
11.	 Change in working capital reflects operating cash flow movements.
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89%  3ppts in F20

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

12.	� Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases, as disclosed in note 32 of the Financial Statements, and includes the 
reclassification of $11.5 million F19 EBITS for the Middle East & Africa region, from Asia to EMEA.

Business performance

•	Volume and NSR declined 23.7% and 14.7% 
respectively, driven by decline in shipments in the 
second half of F20 with all key regions and price 
points impacted by COVID-19. 

•	In China, depletions were up 13% in Q4 versus the 
pcp, including approximately 40% in June, after 
having been down by more than 50% in February 
and March.

•	In South East Asia, strong volume and NSR 
performance in the first half of F20 supported  
the delivery of 8% EBITS growth in F20.

•	NSR per case increased 11.7% on the pcp due  
to luxury driven portfolio premiumisation. 

•	COGS per case was in line with the prior year, with 
higher COGS on Australian sourced commercial 
and masstige wine from the 2019 vintage offset  
by lower COGS on Australian luxury vintages.

•	CODB improved 4.4%, with reduction in 
discretionary spend a key driver.

•	F20 EBITS declined 11.2% to $243.7 million and 
EBITS margin increased 1.6ppts to 39.5%.

Asian regional perspectives

•	The fundamentals of the Asian wine market remain 
positive, with consumption of luxury and masstige 
wine expected to continue growing over the long-term.

•	COVID-19 significantly impacted luxury wine 
consumption in the second half of F20 as a result  
of channel closures and restrictions on gatherings 
and social occasions.

•	TWE continues to see early positive signs of  
both consumption and sales depletion recovery 
throughout the region, but remains cautious on  
the short to medium term outlook. Gatherings and 
social occasions, which drive consumption of luxury 
wine, are yet to fully recover to previous levels.

•	TWE will continue to monitor consumption trends 
to ensure shipments to customers are appropriately 
calibrated to depletions. Forecast forward days  
of inventory cover at the end of June are lower 
versus pcp.

•	Key priority brands including Penfolds, Wolf Blass, 
Maison de Grand Esprit and Rawson’s Retreat  
grew depletions and made significant market share 
gains in F20.

•	TWE achieved significant value and share growth 
in e-commerce, particularly in China, with consumers 
having increasingly shifted their buying behaviour 
to this channel in recent months. While the broader 
e-commerce channel was oriented to lower price 
points, TWE’s e-commerce sales reflect a premium 
portfolio mix.

•	Organisational focus on expanding portfolio 
distribution and availability has supported growth 
in priority markets throughout F20.

•	While TWE continues to monitor the global 
geopolitical environment, it will remain focused on 
building brands, investing in the market, engaging 
with its partners and ensuring compliance.

•	TWE targets EBITS margin in the high 30% range.

Financial performance12

REPORTED 
CURRENCY

CONSTANT 
CURRENCY

A$m F20 F19 % F19 %

NSR 617.1 721.4 (14.5)% 723.4 (14.7)%
NSR per case 187.78 167.58 12.1% 168.04 11.7%
EBITS 243.7 283.0 (13.9)% 274.5 (11.2)%
EBITS margin (%) 39.5% 39.2% 0.3ppts 37.9% 1.6ppts
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71%  4ppts in F20

Business performance 

•	Volume and NSR declined by 11.4% and 11.6% 
respectively, with declines in the US, Canada and 
Latin America.

•	In the US, shipments were below depletions  
by 7%, driven by industry-wide working capital 
management by distributors in response to the 
closure of key non-retail channels as a result 
COVID-19. 

•	NSR per case was in line with the prior year, which 
resulted from the closure of key channels for higher 
margin, luxury wine and impacted overall portfolio 
mix in the period.

•	COGS per case increased 9%, driven by higher costs 
associated with US luxury wine releases in F20  
and Australian sourced commercial wine, as well  
as increased inventory provisions.

•	CODB was in line with the prior year, with overhead 
reductions offset by increased levels of promotional 
investment. CODB includes gains on sale of surplus 
vineyard assets, offset by asset writedowns and 
other restructuring charges associated with 
Simplify for Growth initiatives.

•	Regional EBITS declined 43.8% to $147.3 million,  
and EBITS margin was 7.9ppts lower to 13.8%.

Americas regional perspectives

•	The fundamentals of the US wine market  
remain attractive, with premiumisation trends 
remaining intact.

•	Americas regional performance reflected the 
persistence of challenging US wine market conditions 
and the impact of COVID-19 on TWE’s key sales 
channels outside of retail and e-commerce, which 

were significantly disrupted through the period. 
Increased levels of supply in the market continued  
to contribute to accelerated movement of product 
through private label, which grew over 50% in the 
$8-15 price points through the second half of F20. 

•	Retail channels in the US exhibited strong growth, 
with continued premiumisation driving 20%+ value 
and volume growth across luxury and masstige 
price points.14 

•	TWE’s priority brand portfolio is performing 
strongly with depletions up 32% in the 13 weeks  
to 28 June 2020. Stags’ Leap, Beringer Brothers, 
The Stag, Matua and 19 Crimes consistently 
outpaced the market throughout the year.15 

•	As consumers moved to trusted brands in the second 
half of F20, TWE shifted brand investment to 
support the e-commerce channel and saw strong 
growth from TWE’s own branded websites, partially 
offsetting the adverse impacts from COVID-19 
elsewhere in the direct to consumer channel. 

•	TWE has commenced initiatives to deliver a future 
state wine business in the US. Key actions to date 
include the implementation of a new sales operating 
model and organisation structure, which will deliver 
annualised cost savings of $35 million commencing 
in F21.

•	Upon completion of these initiatives, TWE expects 
to have in place a stronger platform for growth  
in the Americas, in addition to an improved shape  
of P&L reflecting progression towards the 25% 
medium-term regional EBITS margin target.
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Financial performance13

REPORTED 
CURRENCY

CONSTANT 
CURRENCY

A$m F20 F19 % F19 %

NSR 1,069.4 1,134.4 (5.7)% 1,209.6 (11.6)%
NSR per case 86.06 80.87 6.4% 86.24 (0.2)%
EBITS 147.3 233.4 (36.9)% 262.1 (43.8)%
EBITS margin (%) 13.8% 20.6% (6.8)ppts 21.7% (7.9)ppts

13.	 Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases, as disclosed in note 32 of the Financial Statements.
14.	 IRI Market Advantage, Multi-Liquor Outlet + Convenience, 26 weeks ending 28 June.
15.	 IRI Market Advantage, Multi-Liquor Outlet + Convenience, 13 weeks ending 28 June.

F20 luxury and masstige contribution to NSR
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75%  2ppts in F20

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
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Financial performance16

REPORTED 
CURRENCY

CONSTANT 
CURRENCY

A$m F20 F19 % F19 %

NSR 592.4 602.3 (1.6)% 602.4 (1.7)%
NSR per case 76.12 75.89 0.3% 75.90 0.3%
EBITS 133.3 158.0 (15.6)% 153.3 (13.0)%
EBITS margin (%) 22.5% 26.2% (3.7)ppts 25.4% (2.9)ppts

Business performance

•	Volume and NSR declined 1.9% and 1.7% 
respectively in F20, with positive volume 
momentum in the masstige portfolio through F20.

•	NSR per case was broadly in line with the prior 
year, but declined in the second half of F20 as 
consumers traded down, with TWE’s upper end 
luxury portfolio most significantly impacted during 
the period.

•	COGS per case increased 4.3% due to higher COGS 
on Australian sourced commercial and masstige 
wine from the 2019 vintage.

•	F20 EBITS declined 13.0% to $133.3 million, and 
F20 EBITS margin declined 2.9 ppts to 22.5%.

ANZ regional perspectives

•	Over the long-term, TWE expects Australian wine 
market volume and value growth to continue being 
driven by the luxury and masstige price points. 

•	The impact of COVID-19 has seen changes  
in consumer behaviour, with strong retail and 
e-commerce channel performance more than offset 
by the impacts from the closure of other key sales 
channels including on-premise, cellar doors and global 
travel retail. Consumers have increasingly sought 
well-known and trusted brands during this period.

•	Current market growth is centred in the $10-20 
price points, where TWE is growing ahead of the 
market led by focus brands including Squealing Pig, 
19 Crimes and The Stag. 19 Crimes and Squealing 
Pig were the number one and number four brands 
respectively for absolute value growth in the market 
during F20.17 

•	The luxury segment has also been in growth, 
however this has been focused on the sub $50 price 
points, which had an adverse impact on TWE’s 
high-end luxury portfolio performance in retail 
channels through the period. 

•	Cost impacts from the smaller volume, higher cost 
2020 vintage will lead to higher commercial and 
masstige COGS in F21.

•	TWE continues to aspire to a 25% value share in 
ANZ through prioritising growth across the luxury 
and masstige portfolios; 21% value share in F20.18

16.	 Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases, as disclosed in note 32 of the Financial Statements.
17.	 Aztec sales value data, bottle and canned wine only, Australia Liquor weighted, quarter & FY to 21 June 2020.
18.	 Aztec sales value data, bottle and canned wine only, Australia liquor weighted, MAT to 7 June 2020.

F20 luxury and masstige contribution to NSR
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35%  3ppts in F20

Business performance

•	Volume and NSR declined 4.0% and 3.7% respectively 
with declines in Continental Europe and Middle 
East & Africa due to COVID-19 closures partly 
offset by strong masstige portfolio performance 
through retail channels in the UK.

•	NSR per case was in line with the prior year.

•	COGS per case increased 6.7%, reflecting masstige-
led mix shift and higher cost on Australian and US 
sourced commercial wine.

•	Favourable CODB reflects continued disciplined 
approach to brand building investment and overheads.

•	Regional EBITS declined 24.7%, led by lower 
top-line performance in Continental Europe  
and Middle East & Africa in the second half of F20.

•	F20 EBITS margin declined 3.8 ppts to 14.0%.

EMEA regional perspectives

•	Despite being a predominantly Commercial market 
for TWE, long term wine category value growth is 
being driven by premiumisation across key EMEA 
markets and TWE’s brand portfolio is well poised  
to take advantage of these trends.

•	During the COVID-19 impacted period the wine 
category remains in growth across most key retail 
markets in EMEA, driven by increased in-home 
consumption. The UK, Nordics and Netherlands retail 
markets are all in strong value and volume growth.20 

•	TWE’s focus brands are continuing to perform  
well across key EMEA markets led by Lindeman’s, 
Blossom Hill and 19 Crimes.

•	E-commerce sales have also accelerated with 
consumers increasingly shifting to this channel  
for convenience; TWE has recently launched  
its own luxury wine website in response to this 
emerging trend.

•	TWE targets mid-teen EBITS margin in F21, with 
benefits of premiumisation and cost efficiencies to  
be more than offset by impacts of higher Australian 
commercial sourced COGS.

Financial performanc19

REPORTED 
CURRENCY

CONSTANT 
CURRENCY

A$m F20 F19 % F19 %

NSR 370.6 373.5 (0.8)% 384.9 (3.7)%
NSR per case 41.81 40.47 3.3% 41.70 0.3%
EBITS 51.7 63.3 (18.3)% 68.7 (24.7)%
EBITS margin (%) 14.0% 16.9% (2.9)ppts 17.8% (3.8)ppts
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19.	� Prior year comparatives have been restated for AASB 16 Leases, as disclosed in Note 32 of the Financial Statements, and includes  
the reclassification of $11.5 million F19 EBITS for the Middle East & Africa region, from Asia to EMEA. 

20.	 Neilson Scantrack Total Market 52 weeks ended 23 June, Symphony AI Albert Heijn 52 week, Monopoly data 52 wks to June 20. 

F20 luxury and masstige contribution to NSR
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

VINTAGE UPDATE

Australia 
The 2020 Australian vintage was challenging, with 
climatic factors including spring frosts and extreme 
heat events resulting in a total intake that was 30% 
lower than the prior year. With respect to the bushfires, 
TWE fully mitigated its risk exposure to smoke taint 
through early identification of potentially affected 
vineyards and batch ferments of suspect blocks.

The harvest delivered smaller volumes of luxury 
wine, with intake down approximately 45% versus  
the prior vintage. Commercial and masstige volumes 
were in line with demand requirements. Despite the 
challenges, the vintage will deliver wine of very high 
quality with highlights including exceptional parcels 
of Barossa Valley and McLaren Vale Shiraz. 

TWE is well positioned through the flexibility of its 
luxury wine allocation program to manage through 
short term changes in demand or single vintage 
variation. TWE has put in place actions and plans  
to carry forward unsold wine previously allocated  
to the second half of F20 in addition to luxury wine 
that had been previously allocated to F21 and beyond 
into future years. 

California
The California growing season started dry with 
limited winter rainfall. There were some regions  
with isolated rain and minor frost during bloom, but 
weather has been normal for this time of year. The 
outlook for the next three months through vintage  
is slightly warmer than long term average 
temperatures across California. 

Growing conditions thus far have resulted in healthy 
vineyards and low disease pressure. At this stage the 
consistency of the year has led to no major regional 
and varietal differences, but lower winter rain may 
impact crop loads in regions with limited soil water 
availability, such as Central Coast. The 2020 vintage 
is expected to be equivalent to or lower than vintage 
2019 due to the dry winter.

New Zealand
The 2020 New Zealand vintage was strong, with overall 
yields higher than 2019 and more in line with long term 
averages. The 2020 vintage was the second largest  
in terms of tonnes processed at the Matua Winery.

Overall quality is high, with good fruit concentration 
and varietal expression. With a warm, dry season  
in Marlborough the vineyards produced clean fruit 
with great concentration and flavour. Marlborough 
Sauvignon Blanc was a highlight with wines of high 
quality across all sub-regions. 

France 
After a cool winter and warm spring with heavy rain 
the grape growing season has been challenging in the 
wider Bordeaux area, however TWE’s vineyards were 
not adversely impacted by these conditions. Vintage 
2020 is expected to be high quality and Industry 
tonnage is expected to be above average. In the 
Bordeaux and Champagne Appellation areas approved 
production levels have been restricted and lowered.
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TWE’s reporting on environmental, social  
and governance (ESG) topics is captured in the  
Company’s annual Sustainability Report, which 
provides updates on performance across its four 
corporate responsibility pillars – Performance,  
Planet, People and Product. 

OUR APPROACH TO CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY

TWE’s commitment to Corporate Responsibility  
(CR) is expressed through the Company’s corporate 
responsibility framework.

The Global CR Council, which comprises a mix of 
members from the Executive Leadership Team (ELT), 
including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and 
senior representatives from regional and functional 
areas of the business, governs the framework and 
programs across the four CR pillars.

The framework and programs are informed by 
relevant best practice initiatives and guidance 
including the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI),  
the United Nations (UN) Global Compact, and  
the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 

TWE continues to embed its CR framework 
integrating environmental, social and governance 
across the business, and in doing so continues  
to make strong progress against its priorities.

The Board has oversight of the Company’s key ESG 
disclosures, including the Sustainability Report. 

TWE’s Corporate Responsibility team reports 
through to the company’s Legal and Governance 
pillar as well as the Global Corporate Responsibility 
Council and works across the global business to lead 
and implement TWE’s sustainability efforts.

Figure 7 outlines key priorities and the progress  
made to date. 

TASKFORCE ON CLIMATE RELATED 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD) 

TWE understands that as a global viticultural 
business it will be exposed to both physical and 
transitional climate risks.

For TWE, the critical impacts of climate change  
are more frequent extreme weather events and the 
long term risks resulting from climate pattern changes.

In addition, transitional risks and opportunities arise 
from political, legal, technological, and market 
responses to the challenges posed by climate change 
and the transition to a lower carbon economy.

During F19, TWE developed a Taskforce on  
Climate Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) 
roadmap that outlines how the business will meet  
the recommendations of the TCFD over a multi  
year timeframe. 

TWE is committed to creating long term value  
by being sustainable in everything it does. As the 
custodian of some of the world’s leading premium 
wines, we recognise the leadership role we play in 
shaping a positive future for everyone who touches 
our business and products. This means being 
responsible in how we source and produce our 
wine, and prioritising the wellbeing of our people, 
communities and consumers. 

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

TREASURY WINE ESTATES ANNUAL REPORT 2020  |  29  



CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

PEOPLE BRANDS

MARKETS

PARTNERS MODEL

TWE STRATEGIC IMPERATIVES

SUSTAINABILITY
MISSION

CR PILLAR

GUIDING PRINCIPLE
Respect and enhance 
the lives of our people 
and our communities 

Create quality wines 
that are consumed and 
promoted responsibly 
and safely

Create long term value for TWE and everyone who touches 
our Company by being sustainable in everything we do

AMBITION To be the world’s most admired premium wine company

Be transparent and hold 
ourselves to account

PRIORITIES
•Remain a committed 

signatory to the United 
Nations (UN) Global 
Compact and a member 
of the local chapter Global 
Compact Network Australia 

•Introduced a rigorous 
supplier onboarding and 
risk assessment platform 

•Continued the implementation 
of its TCFD roadmap into 
business strategy, financial 
and risk management 
processes

•Launched Global 
Packaging Standards 
and targets

•Continued to focus on 
driving greater awareness 
across the TWE business 
on reducing usage of 
resources such as energy 
and water, as well as 
reducing emissions  

•Maintained Global 
Sustainability 
Certifications in NZ, 
Australia, US, Italy and 
obtained the Haute Valeur 
Environnementale (HVE) 
certification in France 

•Achieved 41.2% against a 
40% women in leadership 
target and set a revised 
target of 50% by 2025

•Launched global TWEforMe 
program focusing on mental 
health and physical health, 
life skills, and development

•Increased the focus on 
safety conversations and 
safety awareness and 
continued to establish 
Global Destination Zero 
Harm commitments 

•Continued to advance 
TWE's Human 
Rights Roadmap

•Mobilised global COVID-19 
support accompanied 
by TWE’s first global 
workforce survey 

•Continued to promote 
Smart Drinking Week 
and developed a global 
awareness toolkit for 
TWE team.  

•Continued to expand 
innovation strategy and 
focused upon the launch 
of lower alcohol options 
as well as an organically 
certified range

•Continued to showcase 
responsible marketing 
through partnership with 
Drinkwise at the 2019 
Spring Racing Carnival 

Be sustainable and 
efficient when sourcing 
and producing our wine

AMBITION
Our peoples’ human 
rights, safety and 
wellbeing is protected 

Our wines are produced, 
marketed and consumed 
responsibly

Our stakeholders believe 
in and trust our Company 
to operate sustainably

Our environmental 
impact is sustainable 
and reducing over time

PRIORITY UNITED NATIONS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

Figure 7: TWE’s Corporate Responsibility Framework and key priorities 
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DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

We are committed to creating an inclusive, supportive 
and collaborative culture to attract and retain the best 
possible talent, and create an environment where people 
from diverse backgrounds can fulfil their potential.

The Board has committed to reviewing and  
assessing progress against TWE’s diversity and 
inclusion objectives annually. To that end, the 
Company is pleased to report progress made in  
F20, together with the F21 measurable objectives.

The Company’s Diversity and Inclusion policy can be 
found on the Company’s website: www.tweglobal.com

F20 DIVERSITY TARGET AND OBJECTIVES 

Recommendation 1.5 of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations states 
that a company’s board or board committee is to set 
the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity. The diversity target set by the Board for 
F20 was to increase female representation in 
leadership roles to 40% by 2025.

The diversity objectives set by the board for F20 were: 

1.	 Diverse workforce
	� Strong workforce representation so we can leverage 

talent as a competitive advantage, creating value 
for our customers and community.

2. 	Inclusive workplace
	� Create a differentiated inclusive culture where 

diverse & resilient talent can thrive during 
‘moments that matter’ to deliver business outcomes 
that matter.

3.	 Employer of Choice
	� Strong employer brand, employee value proposition 

and improved business outcomes that demonstrate 
return on investment in human capital. 

The CEO and all ELT members had a diversity Key 
Performance Objective (KPO) to deliver the above 
objectives in F20.

F20 PROGRESS ON DIVERSITY TARGET

As at 30 June 2020, TWE reached 41.2% females in 
leadership¹ roles against the target of 40% by 2025. 
This is up from 39% in F19.

F20 PROGRESS ON F20 DIVERSITY 
OBJECTIVES:

Please note the following highlights demonstrating 
the progress made against the F20 diversity 
objectives, with some initiatives continuing into F21 
for further expansion or embedding into the business. 

Diverse Workforce
•	Global and Regional I&D councils established  

with regular meeting cadence to ensure traction  
on initiatives and support progress.

•	TWEforSHE capability and networking events 
conducted globally, with over 1200 women 
participating. Celebration of female leadership 
through our annual Mary Penfolds Award.

•	Completion of a global gender pay equity review  
and associated actions.

•	Commenced implementation of an artificial 
intelligence (AI) based recruitment tool to  
mitigate bias in candidate selection.

TWE is committed to upholding the International  
Bill of Human Rights, the United Nation Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights and 
Modern Slavery Acts. Our Inclusion & Diversity 
strategy is underpinned by this commitment and  
at TWE we believe our strength comes from our vast 
and varied backgrounds, ideas, cultures, ethnicities, 
talents, genders and voices: the things some see as 
different, and that we see as critical to our success.
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DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION (CONTINUED)

Inclusive Workplace
•	Global Pride network implemented with education 

and community events globally.

•	Inclusion resources, training and toolkits provided 
to leaders as part of Managing People at Treasury 
learning portal.

•	Launched TWEforME program for all employees, 
providing resources, training and activities to build 
resilience and wellbeing.

Employer of Choice
•	Review of key policies to ensure market 

competitiveness.

•	TWE influencer social media campaign launched  
to amplify EVP and promote our inclusive  
workplace to candidates. 

The ELT continued to operate as the Diversity 
Council in F20 with a focus on setting appropriate 
goals and targets, monitoring progress and  
driving action.

F21 OBJECTIVES AND INITIATIVES

Our Diversity and Inclusion strategy for F21 
continues to be focussed on three key pillars,  
which positively contribute to our employee  
experience and business performance. These 
objectives are underpinned by our commitment  
to upholding the International Bill of Human Rights, 
the United Nation Guiding Principles on Business 
and Human Rights and Modern Slavery Acts.

1.	 Diverse workforce
	� Strong workforce representation so we can leverage 

talent as a competitive advantage, creating value 
for our customers and community.

2.	 Inclusive workplace
	� Create a differentiated inclusive culture where 

diverse & resilient talent can thrive during 
‘moments that matter’ to deliver business outcomes 
that matter.

3. 	Employer of Choice
	� Strong Employer Brand, Employee Value 

Proposition, and improved business outcomes that 
demonstrate return on investment in human capital. 

The Executive Leadership Team is committed to 
continuing TWE’s Diversity Council with accountability 
for setting the strategy and defining and managing 
TWE’s diversity and inclusion goals and objectives. 

Given the Company’s target to increase females in 
leadership roles to 40% by 2025 has been reached 
during 2020, the Company has set a new measurable 
objective to increase female representation in 
leadership roles to 50% by 2025 whilst continuing  
to foster an inclusive culture.

The following initiatives are planned to build on  
the Company’s achievements in F20 and support the 
delivery of our objectives in F21, aligned with each 
strategic pillars: 

Diverse Workforce
Initiatives to attract, retain and progress females in 
leadership to achieve increased female representation 
in leadership roles, whilst continuing to broaden our 
focus in line with our strategy of diversity and 
inclusion beyond gender. Initiatives include:

•	Attracting female and diverse talent groups: 
Introducing gender balanced interview panels and 
expanding the global implementation of an Artificial 
Intelligence (AI) based recruitment tool (designed  
to guide attraction and remove bias from selection 
decisions) including monitoring of results; 

•	Retaining female talent: Flexible working and 
lifestyle/carer’s leave; Mary Penfold Award;  
Gender Pay Equity; 

•	Progressing female talent: female targeted 
succession planning for key roles; investment  
and development of female potential through 
TWEforSHE learning programs and events.

Inclusive Workplace 
Initiatives to foster an inclusive workplace: 

•	Broaden the focus of inclusion beyond gender: 
undertake a global workforce survey to capture  
data and further inform the strategy and actions; 

•	Launch a global diversity and inclusion calendar 
with key dates acknowledged company wide,  
e.g. International Women’s Day, Taste of  
Harmony, Pride; and 

•	Capture metrics on the use of flexible working 
across TWE’s workforce. 
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Employer of Choice 
•	Focus on flexible working for a more gender  

equal uptake; 

•	Review of all diversity and inclusion policies 
regionally and globally, including establishment  
of a Human Rights Charter to articulate TWE’s 
commitment to human rights (including diversity 
and inclusion); and 

•	Assessment against citations including WEGA, 
Edge and AWEI.

The CEO and all ELT members have a diversity  
Key Performance Objective (KPO) to deliver the  
above objectives in F21.

Board Diversity Objective
The Board is committed to ensuring it is comprised  
of individuals with appropriate skills, experience  
and diversity to develop and support the Company’s 
strategic imperatives. The Board recognises the 
importance of cultural, geographic and gender 
diversity amongst its members which is reflected  
in the current representation on the Board, with  
four non-executive directors based offshore in regions  
in which the Company operates. 

During F20, the Board achieved its gender target of 
at least 30% female representation on the Board, with 
women representing 44.4% of the board as at the date 
of this report. This is up from 37.5% in F19. In F21, 
the Board set itself a measurable objective that at 
least 30% of its directors will be of either gender,  
to maintain gender diversity in its composition.

Organisational gender profile
The Company makes the following diversity 
disclosures in relation to Recommendation 1.5  
of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles  
and Recommendations:

RECOMMENDATION 1.5 REQUIREMENT

Proportion of women in the whole organisation
As at 30 June 2020, 39.1% of the Group’s employees were women.

Proportion of women in senior executive1 positions 
within the Group
As at 30 June 2020, 39.1% of the senior executive positions 
within the Group were held by women.

Proportion of women on the Board of the Company
As at 30 June 2020, 44.4% of the Company’s Board of 
Directors (including executive directors) were women.
The Board is committed to ensuring that it is comprised of 
individuals with appropriate skills, experience, and diversity 
to develop and support the Company’s strategic aims. 
The Board had set itself a target for achieving gender diversity 
in its composition of at least 30% female representation, and 
this was achieved during F20.  
Further details are set out in the Corporate Governance 
section of the Annual Report.

As an Australian based business, the Company complies with 
the Workplace Gender Equality Act which requires annual 
filings to the Australian Workplace Gender Equality Agency 
(WGEA) disclosing ‘Gender Equality Indicators’. This report, 
covering the 12-month period ending 31 March, is published  
on the WGEA and the TWE websites in July 2020. It can  
be found here: TWEglobal.com/careers/diversity-inclusion.

1.	For the purposes of this disclosure, the Company has defined 
‘senior executive’ as the Chief Executive Officer and his/her 
direct reports. To note, using the TWE definition of leader,  
41.2% of roles were held by women as at 30 June 2020.
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Warwick Every-Burns
AMP, Harvard University  
(Advanced Management Program)

Non-executive Director 

Member of the Board since May 2011, Chairman 
of the Human Resources Committee and  
a member of the Nominations Committee.
Mr Every-Burns is an independent Director and  
is an Australian resident.
He was Chief Executive Officer of Treasury Wine 
Estates on an interim basis from 23 September 
2013 until 30 March 2014.
Mr Every-Burns previously worked for more than 
30 years in the consumer packaged goods sector. 
Most recently, he was President of International 
Business and a member of the Worldwide 

Executive Committee of The Clorox Company,  
a NYSE listed, S&P 500 business. He was  
based at The Clorox Company’s headquarters  
in the United States for more than five years.  
Mr Every-Burns began his career at Unilever,  
is a former Managing Director of Glad Products 
of Australia and New Zealand and was formerly 
on the Advisory Council of the Frontier  
Strategy Group.
Mr Every-Burns is a director of The a2 Milk 
Company Limited (since August 2016).

Garry Hounsell
B.Bus (Acc), FCA, FAICD 

Non-executive Director 

Member of the Board since September 2012, 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee  
and member of the Nominations Committee.
Mr Hounsell is an independent Director and  
is an Australian resident.
He is currently Chairman of Helloworld Travel 
Limited (since October 2016) and Myer Holdings 
Limited (since November 2017, and a director 
since September 2017). Mr Hounsell is also a 
director of the Commonwealth Superannuation 
Corporation Limited (since July 2016) and Findex 
Group Limited (since January 2020).

Mr Hounsell is a former Chairman of PanAust 
Limited (from July 2008 to August 2015), 
Spotless Group Holdings Limited (from February 
2017 to August 2017, and a director from March 
2014 to August 2017) and a former director of 
Qantas Airways Limited (from January 2005  
to February 2015), Integral Diagnostics Limited 
(from October 2015 to March 2017) and Dulux 
Group Limited (from July 2010 to December 
2017), and has held senior positions at both 
Ernst & Young and Arthur Andersen.

Colleen Jay
B.BA (Hons)

Non-executive Director

Member of the Board since April 2018 and a 
member of the Human Resources Committee.
Ms Jay is an independent Director and a United 
States resident.
Ms Jay has extensive experience in the fast-moving 
consumer goods industry, acquired over a long and 
successful career at Procter & Gamble (P&G, 
NYSE: PG), an American multinational consumer 
goods company, between 1985 and 2017. She has 
held a number of senior leadership roles at P&G, 
including President of Global Retail Hair Care  
& Colour and her most recent position as 

President of the US$5 billion Global Beauty 
Specialty business, where she also led a complex 
transition and divestiture of several businesses. 
Ms Jay has significant global experience having 
lived and worked in the United States, Europe, 
China and Canada. Her leadership experience 
includes significant global line operational 
leadership, strategy creation and execution, 
global brand building, new business development, 
transformational innovation and M&A. 
Ms Jay is currently an independent non-executive 
director of The Cooper Companies (NYSE: COO).

Antonia Korsanos
BEC, CA, GAICD

Non-executive Director

Member of the Board since April 2020 and member 
of the Audit and Risk Committee.
Ms Korsanos is an independent Director and  
an Australian resident. 
Ms Korsanos has extensive senior executive, 
strategy, M&A, financial and governance 
experience, acquired over a successful career as 
Chief Financial Officer of ASX-listed Aristocrat 
Leisure Limited between 2009 and 2018, where  
she also served as Company Secretary from 2011. 
During her career with Aristocrat, Ms Korsanos 
gained a significant understanding of the US market 
and regulatory environment, and led a number  
of transformational cross-border acquisitions.

Prior to joining Aristocrat, Ms Korsanos held 
senior leadership roles in the fast-moving 
consumer goods industry for a period of 10 years, 
including at Goodman Fielder and Kelloggs.  
Ms Korsanos commenced her career with 
accounting firm Coopers & Lybrand (now PwC) 
and has been a Chartered Accountant since 1994.
Ms Korsanos is currently an independent director 
of ASX listed companies Crown Resorts Limited 
and Webjet Limited. Ms Korsanos also serves as 
Chair of the Audit Committees of Crown Resorts 
Limited, and Webjet Limited. Ms Korsanos is a 
former director of Ardent Leisure Group Limited 
(from July 2018 to June 2020). 

Lauri Shanahan
JD Business Law, BS Finance 

Non-executive Director

Member of the Board since November 2016 and  
a member of the Human Resources Committee. 
Ms Shanahan is an independent Director and  
an American resident.
Ms Shanahan has extensive retail, consumer 
brand, e-commerce and governance experience. 
She has held senior executive positions, including 
as Chief Administrative Officer, Chief Legal 
Officer and Corporate Secretary with The Gap 
Inc, where she was involved in leading the 
company’s domestic and international expansion. 

Ms Shanahan also founded the consulting practice 
Maroon Peak Advisors of which she is a Principal.
Ms Shanahan is currently a director of Cedar 
Fair Entertainment Company (NYSE: FUN) 
and Deckers Outdoor Corporation (NYSE: DECK).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
RISK
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 24 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(d) Credit risk 

Nature of the risk
Counterparty credit risk arises primarily from the following assets:

•	Cash and cash equivalents; 

•	Trade and other receivables; and 

•	Derivative instruments. 

Risk management
The Group’s counterparty credit risk management philosophy is to limit the Group’s loss from default by any one 
counterparty by dealing only with financial institution counterparties of good credit standing, setting maximum 
exposure limits for each counterparty, and taking a conservative approach to the calculation of counterparty credit 
limit usage. Where available, credit opinions on counterparties from two credit rating agencies are used to determine 
credit limits.

The Group assesses the credit quality of individual customers prior to offering credit terms and continues to monitor 
on a regular basis. Each customer is assigned a risk profile based upon the measurable risk indicators for dishonoured 
payments, adverse information and average days late along with the securities and guarantees held. All prospective 
accounts are required to complete a credit application and generally a director’s guarantee is required with minimal 
exceptions. Failure to provide a director’s guarantee results in either no credit or a limited level of credit offered. 
Credit terms may be reduced or extended for individual customers based on risk.

Past due accounts are subject to a number of collection activities which range from telephone contact, suspension  
of orders through to legal action. Past due accounts are reviewed monthly with specific focus on accounts that are 
greater than 90 days overdue. Where debt cannot be recovered, it is escalated from the credit representative to the 
credit manager to initiate recovery action.

For derivatives, the Group transacts under an International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting 
agreement. If a credit event such as a default occurs, all outstanding transactions under an ISDA agreement are 
terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a single net amount is payable in settlement of all transactions. 

COVID-19 considerations
In F20 the Group, as part of its normal monitoring of the credit quality of trade receivables, implemented more 
frequent telephone contact and engagement with customers to understand customer trading and credit circumstances, 
and supporting them through any short term challenges identified. The Group also increased the frequency of 
monitoring customer credit risk assessments across the entire customer portfolio. No customers were identified to be 
in financial distress and no bad debts have been written off in F20. 

Level of exposure at balance date
The maximum counterparty credit risk exposure at 30 June 2020 in respect of derivative financial instruments was 
$13.9 million (F19: $3.4 million) and in respect of cash and cash equivalents was $109.6 million (F19: $110.0 million). 
The Group’s authorised counterparties are restricted to banks and financial institutions whose long-term credit rating 
is at or above a Standard and Poors rating of A- (or Moody’s equivalent rating of A3), with any exceptions requiring 
approval from the Board. Commercial paper investments are restricted to counterparties whose short-term credit 
rating is at or above a Standard and Poor’s rating of A-1 (or Moody’s equivalent rating of P-2). The magnitude  
of credit risk in relation to receivables is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowance for expected credit  
loss. The ageing of the consolidated Group trade receivables (net of provisions) is outlined below:

 
2020

$M
2019

$M

Not past due 396.4 489.1
Past due 1–30 days 20.9 29.7
Past due 31–60 days 18.2 9.4
Past due 61 days+ 33.1 15.0
Total 468.6 543.2

Trade receivables have been aged according to their due date.  Terms may be extended on a temporary basis with the 
approval of management. The past due receivables shown above relate to customers who have a good debt history and 
are considered recoverable. There is no collateral held as security against the receivables above and there are no other 
receivables past due. 
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NOTE 25 – DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At reporting date, there were $506.5 million (Australian dollar equivalent) net face value of outstanding foreign 
exchange contracts at contract rates (F19: $721.9 million), interest rate swaps of $654.7 million (F19: $499.6 million) 
and cross currency interest rate swaps of $174.6 million (F19: $171.3 million) and interest rate collars of $218.2 million 
(F19: Nil). These instruments are regarded as Level 2 under AASB’s Fair Value measurement hierarchy.

NOTE 26 – FAIR VALUES

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, financial assets and most financial liabilities approximate their carrying 
value. The fair value of the US Private Placement Notes is $679.3 million (F19: $637.1 million) and the fair value of 
the syndicated debt facility is $530.3 million (F19: $544.5 million). There have been no reclassifications of financial 
assets from fair value to cost, or from cost or amortised cost to fair value during the year.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are based upon market prices, or models using inputs observed 
from the market, where markets exist or have been determined by discounting the expected future cash flows by  
the current interest rate for financial assets and financial liabilities with similar risk profiles (a Level 2 valuation).

The valuation of derivative financial assets and liabilities reflects the estimated amounts which the Group would  
be required to pay or receive to terminate the contracts (net of transaction costs) or replace the contracts at their 
current market rates at reporting date. This is based on internal valuations using standard valuation techniques. 

As the purpose of these derivative financial instruments is to hedge the Group’s underlying assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies and to hedge against risk of interest rate fluctuations, it is unlikely in the absence 
of abnormal circumstances that these contracts would be terminated prior to maturity.

For all other recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, based on the facts and circumstances existing  
at reporting date and the nature of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities including hedge positions,  
the Group has no reason to believe that the financial assets could not be exchanged, or the financial liabilities could 
not be settled, in an arm’s length transaction at an amount approximating its carrying amount.
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NOTE 27 – SUBSIDIARIES

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries:

ENTITY NAME
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION 

Equity holding of 100% (F19: 100%)
Aldershot Nominees Pty. Ltd.* Australia
B Seppelt & Sons Limited* Australia
Beringer Blass Distribution S.R.L. Italy
Beringer Blass Italia S.R.L. Italy
Beringer Blass Wine Estates Chile Limitada Chile
Beringer Blass Wine Estates Limited UK
Beringer Blass Wines Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Bilyara Vineyards Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Cellarmaster Wines (UK) Limited UK
Cellarmaster Wines Holdings (UK) Limited UK
Coldstream Australasia Limited* Australia
Cuppa Cup Vineyards Pty. Ltd. Australia
Devil’s Lair Pty. Ltd. Australia
Ewines Pty. Ltd. Australia
FBL Holdings Limited UK
Il Cavaliere del Castello di Gabbiano S.r.l. Italy
Interbev Pty. Ltd.* Australia
James Herrick Wines Limited(a) UK
Leo Buring Pty. Ltd. Australia
Lindeman (Holdings) Limited* Australia
Lindemans Wines Pty. Ltd. Australia
Mag Wines Pty. Ltd Australia
Majorca Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Mildara Holdings Pty. Ltd.* Australia
North America Packaging (Pacific Rim) Corporation USA
Penfolds Wines Pty Ltd Australia
Piat Pere et Fils B.V. Netherlands
Premium Land, Inc. USA
Robertsons Well Pty. Ltd. Australia
Robertsons Well Unit Trust Australia
Rosemount Estates Pty. Ltd. Australia
Rothbury Wines Pty. Ltd.* Australia
SCW905 Limited* Australia
Seaview Wynn Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Société Civile d’Exploitation Agricole Cambon La Pelouse1 France
Southcorp Australia Pty. Ltd. * Australia
Southcorp Brands Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Southcorp International Investments Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Southcorp Limited* Australia
Southcorp NZ Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Southcorp Whitegoods Pty. Ltd. Australia
Southcorp Wines Asia Pty. Ltd. Australia
Southcorp Wines Europe Limited(a) UK
Southcorp Wines Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Southcorp XUK Limited UK
T’Gallant Winemakers Pty. Ltd. Australia
The New Zealand Wine Club Limited(a) UK
The Rothbury Estate Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Tolley Scott & Tolley Limited* Australia
Treasury Americas Inc USA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
GROUP COMPOSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

1.	F19 equity holding of 0%
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ENTITY NAME
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION 

Treasury Chateau & Estates LLC USA
Treasury Logistics Pty Ltd* Australia
Treasury Wine Estates (China) Holding Co Pty Ltd* Australia
Treasury Wine Estates (Matua) Limited New Zealand
Treasury Wine Estates (NZ) Holding Co Pty Ltd* Australia
Treasury Wine Estates (Shanghai) Trading Co. Ltd. China
Treasury Wine Estates (UK) Holding Co Pty Ltd* Australia
Treasury Wine Estates Americas Company USA
Treasury Wine Estates Asia (SEA) Pte Ltd Singapore
Treasury Wine Estates Asia Pty. Ltd. Australia
Treasury Wine Estates Australia Limited* Australia
Treasury Wine Estates Barossa Vineyards Pty. Ltd. Australia
Treasury Wine Estates Canada, Inc. Canada
Treasury Wine Estates Denmark ApS Denmark
Treasury Wine Estates EMEA Limited UK
Treasury Wine Estates France S.A.R.L. France
Treasury Wine Estates HK Limited Hong Kong SAR, China
Treasury Wine Estates Holdings Inc. USA
Treasury Wine Estates Japan KK Japan
Treasury Wine Estates Limited* Australia
Treasury Wine Estates Netherlands B.V Netherlands
Treasury Wine Estates Norway AS Norway
Treasury Wine Estates Sweden AB Sweden
Treasury Wine Estates UK Brands Limited UK
Treasury Wine Estates Vintners Limited* Australia
TWE Finance (Aust) Limited* Australia
TWE Finance (UK) Limited UK
TWE Insurance Company Pte. Ltd. Singapore
TWE Lima Pty Ltd* Australia
TWE Share Plans Pty Ltd Australia
TWE US Finance Co. USA
TWE USA Partnership USA
Wolf Blass Wines Pty. Ltd.* Australia
Woodley Wines Pty. Ltd. Australia
Wynn Winegrowers Pty. Ltd. Australia
Wynns Coonawarra Estate Pty. Ltd Australia

* 	 Entity is a member of the Closed Group under the Deed of Cross Guarantee (refer to note 29) and relieved from the requirement  
to prepare audited financial statements by ASIC Corporations (Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785.

(a)	These entities were dissolved on 3 March 2020.

Equity holding of less than 100%
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION % OF HOLDING

ENTITY NAME 2020 2019

Fiddlesticks LLC USA 50.0 50.0
Graymoor Estate Joint Venture Australia 48.8 48.8
Graymoor Estate Pty. Ltd. Australia 48.8 48.8
Graymoor Estate Unit Trust Australia 48.8 48.8
North Para Environment Control Pty. Ltd. Australia 69.9 69.9

NOTE 27 – SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
GROUP COMPOSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 28 – PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(a) Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

 
2020

$M
2019

$M

Balance sheet
Current assets 841.4 827.0
Total assets 8,948.2 8,933.1 
Current liabilities 5,293.7 5,343.3 
Total liabilities 5,293.7 5,343.3 
Net assets 3,654.5 3,589.8 

Shareholders’ equity
Issued capital 3,269.8 3,247.3 
Share based payments reserve (54.6) (34.6)
Retained earnings 439.3 377.1 
Total equity 3,654.5 3,589.8 

Profit for the year 350.0 421.0 
Total comprehensive income 350.0 421.0 

Current liabilities comprise balances with other entities within the Group. These balances will not be called within 
the next 12 months. 

(b) Financial guarantees
Refer note 18 for financial guarantees to banks, financiers and other persons.

(c) Tax consolidation legislation
The Company formed a consolidated group for income tax purposes with each of its Australian resident subsidiaries 
on 21 May 2011. The Company and the controlled entities in the tax consolidation group continue to account for 
current and deferred tax amounts separately. These tax amounts are measured on a ‘group allocation’ approach, 
under which the current and deferred tax amounts for the tax-consolidated group are allocated among each reporting 
entity in the Group.

(d) Capital commitments
There are no capital commitments for the Company (F19: nil).

NOTE 29 – DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

Under the terms of ASIC Corporations (Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785, certain wholly owned 
controlled entities have been granted relief from the requirement to prepare audited financial reports. It is a condition  
of the class order that the Company and each of the relevant subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross Guarantee whereby 
each company guarantees the debts of the companies party to the Deed. The member companies of the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee are regarded as the ‘Closed Group’ and identified in note 27.

A summarised consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, retained earnings reconciliation 
and a consolidated statement of financial position, comprising the Company and those controlled entities which are a 
party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed, at 30 June 2020 
are set out below.

 
2020

$M
20191

$M

Extract of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
Profit before tax 268.7 452.3
Income tax expense (79.6) (137.4)
Net profit after tax 189.1 314.9
Retained earnings at beginning of the year 190.7 127.1
External dividends (287.9) (251.3)
Retained earnings at end of the year 91.9 190.7 

1. Reported results restated for changes to accounting policies. Refer to note 32 for transition impacts.
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NOTE 29 – DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)

 
2020

$M
20191

$M

Statement of financial position
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 267.3 273.1
Receivables 245.3 296.2 
Inventories 495.6 480.0
Investments 1.9 1.9
Other current assets 6.6 4.4
Total current assets 1,016.7 1,055.6 

Non-current assets
Inventories 528.9 569.9
Investments 2,257.5 2,257.5 
Property, plant and equipment 588.7 541.4
Right-of-use assets 96.2 98.0
Intangible assets 576.9 569.3
Deferred tax assets 35.7 31.1
Other non-current assets 2.7 1.1
Total non-current assets 4,086.6 4,068.3
Total assets 5,103.3 5,123.9 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 306.6 308.6
Borrowings 643.9 565.2 
Current tax liabilities 23.9 89.2
Provisions 38.5 28.9
Other current liabilities 6.7 4.7
Total current liabilities 1,019.6 996.6 

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 638.7 586.6
Deferred tax liabilities 122.6 125.5
Other non-current liabilities 11.6 10.3
Total non-current liabilities 772.9 722.4
Total liabilities 1,792.5 1,719.0 
Net assets 3,310.8 3,404.9 

Equity
Contributed equity 3,269.8 3,247.3
Reserves (50.9) (33.1)
Retained earnings 91.9 190.7
Total equity 3,310.8 3,404.9 

Current borrowings include balances with other entities within the Group. These balances will not be called within 
the next 12 months. 

1.	Reported results restated for changes to accounting policies. Refer to note 32 for transition impacts.
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NOTE 30 – RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Ownership interests in related parties
All material ownership interests in related parties are disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

Parent entity
The ultimate parent entity is Treasury Wine Estates Limited, which is domiciled and incorporated in Australia. 

Transactions with entities in the wholly-owned Group
Transactions between companies within the Group during the current and prior year included:

•	Purchases and sales of goods and services; and

•	Provision of accounting and administrative assistance.

Transactions with controlled entities are made on normal commercial terms and conditions. 

Transactions with other related parties
The Group entered into transactions which are insignificant in amount with executives, non-executive Directors and 
their related parties within normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available in similar arm’s length dealings.

There were no other transactions with related parties during the current year.

Key management personnel compensation 
The following table shows the compensation paid or payable to the key management personnel (‘executives’) of the Group.

 
 

2020
$

2019
$

Short-term employee benefits 3,796,905 9,734,012 
Post-employment benefits 63,008 54,272 
Share based payments 6,897,611  5,306,803 
Total 10,757,524 15,095,087

Additionally, compensation paid to non-executive directors was $1,962,059 (F19: $1,845,107).

NOTE 31 – REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

The Audit and Risk Committee has completed an evaluation of the overall effectiveness and independence of the 
external auditor, KPMG. As part of this process, the external auditor has provided a written statement that no 
professional engagement with the Group has been carried out which would impair their independence as auditor.  
The Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee has advised the Board that the Committee’s assessment is that  
the auditor is independent. 

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Group, and its 
related practices:

 
 

2020
$

2019
$

Audit and review of financial statements and other  
audit work under the Corporations Act 2001 1,303,462 1,452,298
Associate firms of Auditor 420,737 397,702
Other assurance services – 51,000
Audit and review services 1,724,199 1,901,000
Other non-audit services 58,882 346,348
Total 1,783,081 2,247,348

The Group engages KPMG to provide other non-audit services where their expertise and experience best qualifies them 
to provide the appropriate service and as long as stringent independence requirements are satisfied. In the year ended 
30 June 2020, KPMG earned fees in respect to the provision of advisory and taxation services.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
OTHER 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

New accounting standards and interpretations 
Since 30 June 2019, the Group has adopted the following new and amended accounting standards.

REFERENCE TITLE APPLICATION

AASB 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IFRS Interpretations 
Committee –  
April 2020

Multiple Tax Consequences of Recovering an Asset (AASB 112 Income 
Taxes)—Agenda Paper 2 1 January 2019

Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

AASB 2017-4
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Uncertainty over Income 
Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

AASB 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9) 1 January 2019

AASB 128
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments  
to AASB 128) 1 January 2019

AASB 119 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to AASB 119) 1 January 2019
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle – various standards 1 January 2019

AASB 2019-3 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2019

Other than the impact of AASB 16 Leases and the IFRS Interpretation Committee – April 2020 outlined below,  
the adoption of these standards did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 Leases was released in February 2016 by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. This standard 
removes the lease classification test for lessees and requires the Group to bring all material leases with lease terms 
greater than one year onto the balance sheet. There is also new guidance on when an arrangement would meet the 
definition of a lease. The Group has chosen not to recognise short-term leases, which are those less than 12 months, 
and leases of low-value assets on the balance sheet.

The Group recognises new assets and liabilities for its operating leases including vineyards, buildings, equipment  
and motor vehicles, and the nature of the expenses related to those leases changed as AASB 16 Leases replaced  
the straight-line operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets and interest expense  
on the lease liabilities.

The Group applied the full retrospective transition option and applied the adopted policy on a fully retrospective basis 
from 1 July 2019. Please refer to note 11 for the Group’s policy on leases. 

IFRIC Agenda Decision – Multiple Tax Consequences of Recovering an Asset (AASB 112 Income Taxes)
The IFRS Interpretations Committee received a request about deferred tax when the recovery of the carrying amount 
of an asset gives rise to multiple tax consequences, specifically, where an entity acquires an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life as part of a business combination. The request asked how the entity determines the tax base of the 
asset and, consequently, how it recognises and measures deferred tax based on the principles of AASB 112 Income 
Taxes (referred as AASB 112). 

In applying this decision from the IFRS Interpretations Committee, the Group has recognised a deferred tax liability 
on historic intangible asset acquisitions as part of a business combination.

Impact of adopting new policies
The below summarises the impact of adopting the new policies on the Group’s consolidated financial statements  
for those periods presented within the 30 June 2020 financial statements. Only restated lines have been included  
in the tables below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
OTHER 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EXTRACT)

Operating profit has been restated to remove operating lease payments previously recognised and to recognise 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use assets that are now recognised on the balance sheet. Interest expense on 
lease liabilities has been recognised within finance costs. Adjustments to taxation are due to the change in profit 
before taxation. Currency translation gains/losses have also been restated to reflect the foreign exchange impact  
of AASB 16 Leases on foreign subsidiaries.

30 JUNE 2019
$M

REPORTED

INCREASE/ 
DECREASE  

$M 30 JUNE 2019
$M

RESTATEDAASB 16 AASB 112

Cost of sales (1,660.8) 18.3 – (1,642.5)
Finance costs (99.4) (33.7) – (133.1)
Profit before tax 591.0 (15.4) – 575.6
Income tax expense (171.5) 4.3 0.1 (167.1)
Net profit attributed to members of Treasury Wine 
Estates Limited 419.5 (11.1) 0.1 408.5
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations 69.2 (3.1) – 66.1
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to members of Treasury Wine Estates 
Limited 478.1 (14.2) 0.1 464.0
Earnings per share for profit attributed to the ordinary 
equity holders of the Company 

•	Basic 58.4 (1.5) – 56.9
•	Diluted 58.1 (1.5) – 56.6

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (EXTRACT)

The Group recognised right-of-use assets on the balance sheet representing the right to use of the underlying assets 
from the lease contracts. Current and non-current lease liabilities were also recognised for the present value of the 
lease payments due under the lease contracts. Deferred tax adjustments are due to temporary timing differences 
arising from the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Shareholder’s equity has been restated  
to reflect the cumulative impact of AASB 16 Leases on retained earnings and currency translation adjustment  
as a result of restatement of foreign subsidiaries.

The Group recognised a deferred tax liability with a corresponding increase to goodwill in relation to the AASB 112 
accounting policy change, for deferred taxes recognised on intangible asset acquisitions as part of a business combination.

30 JUNE 2019
$M

REPORTED

INCREASE/ 
DECREASE  

$M 30 JUNE 2019
$M

RESTATEDAASB 16 AASB 112

Assets
Current and non-current inventory 2,092.9 (45.6) – 2,047.3 
Right-of-use assets – 535.9 – 535.9 
Deferred tax assets 152.3 34.7 – 187.0 
Property, plant and equipment 1,398.7 (28.8) – 1,369.9 
Intangible assets 1,163.8 – 145.1 1,308.9 

Liabilities  
Trade and other payables 780.7 (62.1) – 718.6 
Provisions 45.8 (2.2) – 43.6 
Other current and non-current liabilities 30.4 (17.3) – 13.1 
Deferred tax liabilities 194.1 6.0 134.6 334.7 
Current and non-current borrowings 1,147.7 646.9 – 1,794.6 

Equity  
Reserves 33.8 (4.6) (0.1) 29.1 
Retained earnings 424.4 (70.5) 10.6 364.5 
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NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (EXTRACT) (CONTINUED)

30 JUNE 2018
$M

REPORTED

INCREASE/ 
DECREASE  

$M 30 JUNE 2018
$M

RESTATEDAASB 16 AASB 112

Assets
Current and non-current inventory 1,964.4 (39.3) – 1,925.1 
Right-of-use assets – 456.0 – 456.0 
Deferred tax assets 154.5 28.6 – 183.1 
Property, plant and equipment 1,416.5 (30.2) – 1,386.3 
Intangible assets 1,128.9 – 145.0 1,273.9 

   
Liabilities        
Trade and other payables 759.3 (62.2) – 697.1 
Provisions 45.4 (1.4) – 44.0 
Other current and non-current liabilities 24.1 (4.3) – 19.8 
Deferred tax liabilities 190.8 5.4 134.5 330.7 
Current and non-current borrowings 875.3 538.6 – 1,413.9 

   
Equity        
Reserves 0.4 (1.6) – (1.2)
Retained earnings 256.2 (59.4) 10.5 207.3 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (EXTRACT)

There is no impact on overall cash flows on the Group from the adoption of AASB 16 Leases. Cash outflows for lease 
payments have been reclassified from operating activities – “payments to suppliers, governments and employees”  
to operating activities – “interest paid” and cash flows used in financing activities – ‘repayment of borrowings’.  
There is no impact to cash flows as a result of adopting the amendments to AASB 112 Income Taxes.

30 JUNE 2019
$M

REPORTED

INCREASE/
DECREASE

$M

30 JUNE 2019
$M

RESTATED

Payment to suppliers, governments and employees (3,110.0) 80.0 (3,030.0)

Interest paid (43.8) (33.7) (77.5)

Repayment of borrowings (492.2) (46.3) (538.5)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
OTHER 
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NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (EXTRACT)

The principal profit metric for internal management reporting is Management earnings before interest, tax, SGARA 
and material items (EBITS). The adoption of AASB 16 Leases also requires the recognition of depreciation expense  
on the right-of use assets. 

The table below outlines the impact of AASB 16 Leases adoption, the reclassification of Middle, East and Africa 
(‘MEA’) from Asia to Europe (refer to note 2 for further information), and the AASB 112 Income Taxes policy change, 
on reported EBITS, depreciation expense, Segment Asset and Segment Liabilities.

 
 
 

ANZ
 $M

AMERICAS
 $M

ASIA
$M

EMEA 
$M

TOTAL 
SEGMENT

$ 

UNALLOCATED/
CORPORATE

$M
CONSOLIDATED

 $M 

Management EBITS –  
30 June 2019 reported 156.5 218.7 293.5 51.4 720.1 (57.4) 662.7
Increase/(Decrease)  
from AASB 16 1.5 14.7 1.0 0.4 17.6 0.7 18.3 
Increase/(Decrease)  
from MEA – – (11.5) 11.5 – – –
Management EBITS –  
30 June 2019 restated 158.0 233.4 283.0 63.3 737.7 (56.7) 681.0 

Depreciation – 30 June 
2019 reported (38.4) (44.6) (0.9) (1.8) (85.7) (3.5) (89.2)
(Increase)/Decrease  
AASB 16 (13.7) (38.2) (2.7) (0.7) (55.3) (3.6) (58.9)
Depreciation –  
30 June 2019 restated (52.1) (82.8) (3.6) (2.5) (141.0) (7.1) (148.1)

Segment Assets –  
30 June 2019 reported 2,286.2 2,487.6 228.3 357.5 5,359.6 640.6 6,000.2 
Increase/(Decrease)  
for AASB 16 74.6 353.7 5.6 1.7 435.6 60.6 496.2 
Increase/(Decrease)  
for AASB 112 144.3 – – 0.8 145.1 – 145.1 
Increase/(Decrease)  
from MEA – – (10.9) 10.9 – – – 
Segment Assets –  
30 June 2019 restated 2,505.1 2,841.3 223.0 370.9 5,940.3 701.2 6,641.5 

Segment Liabilities –  
30 June 2019 reported (273.1) (421.7) (51.8) (92.8) (839.4) (1,454.7) (2,294.1)
(Increase)/Decrease  
for AASB 16 (86.3) (443.6) (6.1) (2.2) (538.2) (33.1) (571.3)
(Increase)/Decrease  
for AASB 112 – – – – – (134.6) (134.6)
Segment Liabilities –  
30 June 2019 restated (359.4) (865.3) (57.9) (95.0) (1,377.6) (1,622.4) (3,000.0)
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NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (EXTRACT)

 
 
 

ANZ
 $M

AMERICAS
 $M

ASIA
$M

EMEA 
$M

TOTAL 
SEGMENT

$ 

UNALLOCATED/
CORPORATE

$M
CONSOLIDATED

 $M 

Segment Assets –  
30 June 2018 reported 2,212.6 2,362.9 192.6 329.6 5,097.7 348.0 5,445.7
Increase/(Decrease)  
for AASB 16 51.8 322.1 8.1 2.3 384.3 30.8 415.1 
Increase/(Decrease)  
for AASB 112 144.2 – – 0.8 145.0 – 145.0 
Increase/(Decrease)  
from MEA – – (7.1) 7.1 – – – 
Segment Assets –  
30 June 2018 restated 2,408.6 2,685.0 193.6 339.8 5,627.0 378.8 6,005.8

Segment Liabilities –  
30 June 2018 reported (269.3) (401.1) (57.9) (87.5) (815.8) (1,133.6) (1,949.4)
(Increase)/Decrease  
for AASB 16 (62.1) (393.9) (8.6) (2.9) (467.5) (8.6) (476.1)
(Increase)/Decrease  
for AASB 112 – – – – – (134.5) (134.5)
Segment Liabilities –  
30 June 2018 restated (331.4) (795.0) (66.5) (90.4) (1,283.3) (1,276.7) (2,560.0)

The presentation of non-current assets is based on the geographical location of the assets.

30 JUNE 2019
REPORTED 

$M

INCREASE/ 
DECREASE  

$M 30 JUNE 2019
RESTATED 

$M NON-CURRENT ASSETS AASB 16 AASB 112

Australia 1,629.0 97.7 144.3 1,871.0
United States of America 1,776.8 372.0 – 2,148.8
United Kingdom 151.4 0.8 – 152.2
Other geographical locations 109.4 13.3 0.8 123.5
Total geographical non-current assets 3,666.6 483.8 145.1 4,295.5
Other non-current assets 165.0 34.7 – 199.7
Consolidated non-current assets 3,831.6 518.5 145.1 4,495.2

30 JUNE 2018
REPORTED

$M

INCREASE/ 
DECREASE 

$M 30 JUNE 2018
RESTATED

$M NON-CURRENT ASSETS AASB 16 AASB 112

Australia 1,567.0 51.0 144.2 1,762.2
United States of America 1,716.6 357.8 – 2,074.4
United Kingdom 137.9 1.2 – 139.1
Other geographical locations 121.7 15.8 0.8 138.3
Total geographical non-current assets 3,543.2 425.8 145.0 4,114.0
Other non-current assets 160.7 28.6 – 189.3
Consolidated non-current assets 3,703.9 454.4 145.0 4,303.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
OTHER 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Issued but not yet effective accounting standards 
The following relevant accounting standards have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective and have 
not been adopted for this year-end reporting period. 

REFERENCE TITLE APPLICATION

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 1 January 2020
AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – definition of a Business 1 January 2020
AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – definition of Material 1 January 2020
AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate  

Benchmark Reform
1 January 2020

AASB 2019-5 Disclosure of the effect of new IFRS Standards not yet issued in Australia 1 January 2020
AASB 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021
AASB 10 and 
AASB 128

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture (Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128) 1 January 2022

AASB 2020-3 Annual improvements 2018-2022 cycle (Amendments to AASB 1, 3, 9, 116, 137, 141) 1 January 2022

AASB 2020-1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 1 January 2023

These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial position or its performance.

Other accounting policies
Finance income
Finance income is recognised as the interest accrues 
(using the effective interest method, which applies a rate 
that discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised as an expense when they 
are incurred, except for interest charges attributable  
to major projects with substantial development and 
construction phases, which are capitalised as part  
of the cost of the asset.

Financial assets
A financial asset is classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive 
income unless it meets the definition of amortised cost. 
This is determined on initial recognition. 

Financial assets classified as at amortised cost are 
measured initially at fair value and adjusted in respect 
of any incremental and directly attributable transaction 
costs. All other financial assets are measured at fair 
value on initial recognition. 

Reclassification occurs only if there are fundamental 
changes to the Group’s business model for managing 
financial assets.

Amortised cost
A financial asset is classified as at amortised cost only if 
the asset is held to collect contractual cash flows and the 
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Any gains and losses are 
recognised through the amortisation process or when the 
financial asset is derecognised or impaired.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit 
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss. ECLs are determined using 
historical recovery of contractual cash flows and the 
amount of loss incurred, adjusted for current economic 
and credit conditions. 

An impairment loss is based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. Impairment losses on assets 
classified as amortised cost are recognised in profit or 
loss when they are expected, not when they are incurred. 
If a later event causes the impairment loss to decrease, 
the amount is reversed in profit or loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets
The derecognition of a financial asset takes place when 
the Group no longer controls the contractual rights that 
comprise the financial instrument. 

This is normally the case when the instrument is sold  
or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are 
passed through to an independent third party.
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NOTE 32 – OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derivatives
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such  
as foreign currency contracts, interest rate swaps and 
options to hedge its risks associated with interest rate 
and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative 
financial instruments are carried at fair value and  
are financial assets when the fair value is positive  
and financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, 
any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value 
are taken directly to profit or loss for the year. 

Hedge accounting
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are 
classified as either fair value hedges when they hedge  
the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability; cash flow hedges where they hedge 
exposure to variability in cash flows that is either 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or a forecasted transaction; 
or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Initial recognition
At the beginning of a hedge relationship, the Group 
designates and documents the hedge relationship and  
the related risk management objective and strategy.  
The documentation identifies the hedging instrument 
and the hedged item as well as describing the economic 
relationship, the hedge ratio between them and potential 
sources of ineffectiveness. The documentation also includes 
the nature of the risk being hedged and the method  
of assessing the hedging instrument’s effectiveness.  
To achieve hedge accounting, the relationship must be 
expected to be highly effective and are assessed on an 
ongoing basis to determine that they continue to meet 
the risk management objective.

Re-balancing
If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes is no 
longer met but the risk management objective remains 
unchanged and the hedge continues to qualify for hedge 
accounting, the Group will rebalance the relationship  
by adjusting either the volume of the hedged item  
or the volume of the hedging instrument.

Discontinuation
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised,  
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point 
in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument recognised in equity is kept in equity until 
the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain  
or loss recognised in equity is transferred to profit  
or loss for the year.

Gains or losses recognised directly in equity are 
reclassified into profit and loss in the same period or 
periods the foreign currency risk affects consolidated 
profit and loss.

Fair value hedges 
For fair value hedges (for example, interest rate swaps), 
any gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument 
is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. Where the adjustment 
is to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing 
financial instrument, the adjustment is amortised to  
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income such that it is fully amortised by maturity.

Cash flow hedges
In relation to cash flow hedges (forward foreign currency 
contracts) to hedge firm commitments, the portion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined 
to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity 
and the ineffective portion is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the hedged item gives rise to the recognition  
of an asset or a liability, the associated deferred gains  
or losses are included in the initial measurement of the 
asset or liability.

For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that 
are recognised in equity are transferred to the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the 
same period in which the hedged firm commitment 
affects the profit and loss, for example when the future 
sale actually occurs.

NOTE 33 – CLASS ACTION

Two Australian shareholder class actions have been commenced against TWE Limited. 

The first action was served on 2 April 2020 by Slater & Gordon (S&G) acting for Brett Stallard as trustee for the 
Stallard superannuation fund. The second action was served on 1 May 2020 by Maurice Blackburn (MB) acting for 
Steven Napier. The class in both proceedings comprise shareholders who purchased shares between 30 June 2018 and 
28 January 2020. Both proceedings allege that the Company breached its continuous disclosure obligations under the 
ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act and that it engaged in misleading or deceptive conduct in contravention 
of the Corporations Act and the ASIC Act. 

With regard to claims, the Company strongly denies any and all allegations made against it and is vigorously 
defending the proceedings.

Based on the information currently available, the Company does not know the quantum of either class action.  
No provision has been recognised at 30 June 2020 in respect of the claim.
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In the Directors’ opinion:

(a)	 The financial statements and notes 1 to 33 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

	 (i)	� complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements; and

	 (ii)	�giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date.

(b)	There are reasonable grounds to believe that Treasury Wine Estates Limited will be able to pay its debts  
as and when they become due and payable.

(c)	 There are reasonable grounds to believe that members of the Closed Group identified in note 27 will be able  
to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to, by virtue of the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee described in note 29.

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards  
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as required 
by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Paul Rayner	 Tim Ford 
Chairman	 Chief Executive Officer

25 August 2020

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the shareholders of Treasury Wine Estates Limited 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Treasury Wine Estates Limited (the 
Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

 giving a true and fair view of the 
Group’s financial position as at 30 June 
2020 and of its financial performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

 complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

The Financial Report comprises:  
 

 Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2020; 

 Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, Statement of changes in 
equity, and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended; 

 Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

 Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of the Company and the entities it 
controlled at the year-end or from time to time during 
the financial year. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TREASURY WINE ESTATES ANNUAL REPORT 2020  |  121  



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

     

 
 

 
 

Key Audit Matters 

The Key Audit Matters we identified are: 

 Valuation of inventory; and 

 Recognition of discounts and rebates. 
  

 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the Financial Report of the current period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Valuation of inventory (total finished goods and work in progress inventory was $2,010.0 
million) 

Refer to Note 9 Working Capital to the Financial Report  

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The valuation of inventories of finished goods 
and work in progress is a key audit matter as 
we need to consider estimates and judgements 
made by the Group. These include inherently 
subjective judgements about forecast demand 
and estimated market sales prices at the time 
the wine is expected to be sold. We focus our 
work on assessing the judgements contained in 
the valuation models for: 

 the period of time over which some 
harvested grapes are converted from work 
in progress to bottled wine ready for sale 
(the holding period) which can be a number 
of years depending on the varietal and type 
of wine; and 

 forecast demand and market sales prices, 
which can fluctuate significantly over the 
holding period and are influenced by the 
fundamentals of the global wine industry, 
including fluctuations in demand and supply 
and other factors that impact agricultural 
outputs. These factors influence the 
Group’s determination of the most likely 
market conditions at the estimated date of 
sale. A key indicator for at-risk inventory 
values, including finished goods and work in 
progress in the holding period, is the 
identification of current slow moving and 
obsolete inventories. These can signal 
changes in consumer demand patterns or 
potential over-supply issues which may 

Our procedures included: 

 testing key controls designed by the Group to 
identify slow moving and obsolete inventories 
(including wine held by third party distributors 
and retailers), which if existing, may indicate 
valuation issues with work in progress and 
finished goods; 

 testing year-end inventory valuation models, in 
particular the identification and valuation of 
work in progress and finished goods 
considered to be ‘at risk’ (i.e. where the costs 
may potentially exceed the estimated net 
realisable value at the time of sale). We 
considered forecast sales plans, inventory 
holding reports (including wine held by third 
party distributors and retailers), committed 
future supply contracts and the outcomes of 
the Group’s process to identify slow moving 
and obsolete inventories. For a sample of ‘at 
risk’ inventory we: 

 evaluated the proposed inventory value against 
brand strategies and forecast sales plans for 
consistency; 

 assessed the reasonableness of management’s 
action plans in place to mitigate the risk that 
wine will be sold below cost and facilitate the 
sale of potential at risk inventory above cost; 

 assessing the integrity of the inventory 
valuation models used, including the 
mathematical accuracy of the underlying 
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impact forecast prices. calculation formulas; 

 comparing, by product grade, inventory 
volumes in significant markets to both recent 
and forecasted sales data to identify slow 
moving and potentially ‘at risk’ inventories, and 
assessing the computation of write-downs of 
inventory to net realisable value; 

 attending cycle counts and / or year-end 
inventory counts in significant locations, which 
included observing the process of identifying 
slow moving and potentially obsolete inventory; 

 comparing the estimated net realisable value of 
slow moving inventories identified in prior 
periods to actual sales outcomes subsequently 
achieved, to assess the historical accuracy of 
the Group’s forecasting process; and 

 assessing the Group’s inventory valuation 
methodologies and the Group’s disclosures in 
respect of inventory valuation against the 
requirements of relevant accounting standards. 

 
 
 

Recognition of discounts and rebates (Net Sales revenue, which is net of trade discounts and 
volume rebates, was $991.2 million) 

Refer to Note 3 Revenue of the Financial Report. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group’s policy is to record net sales revenue 
at the time goods are shipped to customers 
based on the price specified in the sales 
agreement, net of any estimated discount or 
rebate. In some cases, the discount or rebate 
will not be finally determined or paid until the 
inventory is depleted from the customer’s 
warehouse, which may be some time after the 
Group’s sale date to their customer. Sales 
agreement terms and historical trends are used 
by the Group to estimate the discounts. The 
impact of any one-off events are considered by 
the Group in the estimation of the accrual.  

At year end, the Group estimates and accrues 
amounts for discounts and rebates they consider 
have been incurred and not yet paid. The Group’s 
estimation of these amounts at the year-end is 

Our procedures included: 

 considering the appropriateness of the Group’s 
accounting policy for the recognition and 
measurement of net sales revenue, including 
the policy for recording discounts and rebates, 
by assessing compliance with applicable 
accounting standards; 

 testing the estimation of discounts and rebates 
accruals. We used underlying documentation 
such as customer agreements, shipment and 
depletion data, claims for discounts and rebates 
along with cash payments made. We evaluated 
the estimate, for a sample of customers, by:  

 checking amounts to the agreements; and 

 analysing sales and depletion to date, and 
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considered as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of the Group judgements applied 
and the number of unique customer 
arrangements that are in place. For example, the 
Group’s judgement is required to estimate the 
accrual where discounts and rebates are 
dependent on customers achieving annual sales 
targets and the performance year does not align 
to the Group’s financial year. 

depletion programs expected to take place in 
future periods against sales budgets, depletion 
plans and actual claims, to assess the estimate 
of discounts and rebates incurred but not yet 
paid.  

 testing key controls in significant jurisdictions 
for calculating, reviewing and approving 
discounts and rebates; 

 assessing the integrity of the discount and 
rebate models used, including the 
mathematical accuracy of the underlying 
calculation formulas;  

 challenging the nature and quantum of the 
amounts recorded by reference to historical 
sales, rebates paid and discounts paid. We also 
tested, on a sample basis, the nature and level 
of such amounts back to contractually agreed 
terms; 

 assessing the accuracy of the accrual in 
previous years in order to challenge the Group’s 
current year estimation processes; and 

 considering the Group’s disclosures with 
respect to revenue, discounts and rebates 
accruals against accounting standard 
requirements.  

 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Treasury Wine Estates Limited’s annual 
reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors 
are responsible for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the 
Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

 preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

 implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

 assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use 
of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 
either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

 to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

 to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our 
Auditor’s Report. 
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